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vision
To be the first choice banking institution for those living in the
ACT and South Eastern NSW.

mission
To excel at providing banking and financial services.

values
We care about each other and behave as a supportive family
would behave. The conduct of our business and ourselves shows
others what kind of organisation we are and is demonstrated by
the following values:
•

we are respectful and courteous

•

we are tolerant and supportive

•

we are honest and open

•

we are dependable and accountable, and

•

we are prudent and ethical.
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Message from the Chair

The 2007/08 financial year saw SERVICE ONE Members Banking
(SERVICE ONE) continue striving ‘to be the first choice banking
institution for those living in the ACT and South Eastern NSW’.
This has been driven by our strong financial performance,
continued focus on providing quality and competitive products
that our Members want and exceptional service, provided by
dedicated and loyal staff.

Financial performance

Clarke
Chair, John

Our 2007/08 financial performance was strong, and this
is particularly pleasing when you consider the challenging
environment we have been operating in for some time now.
SERVICE ONE’s total assets increased from $234,684,000
to $266,074,000 – representing a 13 per cent increase.
In a market impacted by global pressures and rate
increases, our loan balances increased by 10 per cent,
from $193,535,000 to $212,781,000. In an increasingly
competitive market, we saw a 14 per cent growth in our
deposit portfolio – from $211,745,000 to $240,822,000.
Profit after tax was $2,144,000 (up from $1,421,000 the
previous year), although this was in part due to the sale of our
Deakin Building.
Our Capital Adequacy Ratio, which is a measure of our capital
strength, finished the year at 15 per cent and is significantly
higher than the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority
(APRA) regulatory requirement of 8 per cent. This is an indication
of the work we have done to ensure SERVICE ONE remains a
competitive force in banking well into the future. Our liquidity
levels continue to ensure we can meet our financial obligations
through the successful monitoring and projection of cash flows.
In volatile times, we’re pleased to be able to report the strong
financial results achieved by SERVICE ONE this year. This stability
underpins our positioning within the market and puts us in a
strong position to increase our reserves even further.
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“… in the current financial
climate, we do not have the
luxury of relaxing – we will
strive to build on this success
into the future.”
The operating environment
While I am pleased with the 2007/08 results, in the current
financial climate, we do not have the luxury of relaxing – we
will strive to build on this success into the future. Across the
finance sector, competition is driving margins lower, and with a
steady increase in costs, times are increasingly tough for financial
institutions. In addition, pressures on our staffing resources
remain varied and challenging.
Over the past few years (and more recently, through the
introduction of anti-money laundering and anti-terrorism
requirements), changes to finance sector legislation have seen
a higher level of skill and expertise integrated throughout our
operations. We are committed to ensuring we remain on the
forefront of not only the associated compliance requirements
but also the issues facing our industry more generally.
Considering the challenges facing the industry, it is important
we diversify the sources of our income, and continue to not only
build on existing partnerships and initiatives, but look for new
opportunities in this area.

Our Board
The Board is strongly committed to maintaining sound
governance practices across the organisation. We recognise
that to deal with the challenges ahead, we must have sound
frameworks in place and demonstrate diligence in discharging
our duties and responsibilities.
We maintain a solid corporate governance program, which
includes ongoing work by dedicated sub-committees, comprising
members of the Board, to ensure we are operating efficiently,
effectively, appropriately and legally in achieving our goals. More
information on these committees and their roles can be found as
part of the ‘Corporate Governance Statement’ on page 22.

This year, members of the Board have continued to develop
their skills and competencies to enable us to continue to deal
effectively with issues facing the organisation. Our Directors
have participated in many of the industry’s forums and have
made a strong personal commitment to growth and to providing
responsible leadership to SERVICE ONE.
It is with regret that our Board accepted the resignation of
one Director this year. Joanne Krueger was a Deputy Chair
of the Board and an active contributor to the Finance and
Risk Committee and Corporate Governance Committee. Her
experience in strategic planning and risk management has been
invaluable and, on behalf of the Board, I would like to thank
Joanne for her expertise, loyalty and contribution to SERVICE ONE.

Looking forward
The future of SERVICE ONE is sound – even with the challenges
facing our industry this year. In line with our ‘Vision 2009’
strategic plan, we have already delivered on many elements
of our core strategic result areas – exceptional service, service
support, quality product information and advice, and well
managed growth and profitability. Our subsequent ‘Vision 2011’
strategic plan will build on this and further position SERVICE
ONE as a banking institution that understands and meets the
needs and aspirations of our communities, our Members and
our staff.

Thank you
The excellent financial results were only possible with the
support of the Board, staff and, of course, our Members. We
understand the financial pressures more and more families are
experiencing. Please rest assured we are continually looking at
ways we can give back to Members and hopefully this translates
to service standards and savings you would not experience with
other financial institutions.
Thank you for your continued support and we look forward to
another prosperous year in 2008/09.

John Clarke
Chair
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UPDATE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Supporting our Members
We understand that many Australians are doing it tough.
Interest rates have been on the increase, and when you consider
the higher costs of essential items such as petrol and groceries,
many families are feeling the pinch. At SERVICE ONE, we have
looked at ways to alleviate some of this financial pressure.
This has been more clearly demonstrated this year than in the
past, as we have not only used our profits to benefit Members
by holding our home loan rates to levels well below those
of the banks, but we have also looked to give back through
competitive investment rates on our deposit products.

Peter Carlin
Chief Executive,

With the volatility of the overseas markets, we are all reminded
of the benefits of local banking. As SERVICE ONE sources the
bulk of the funds for Member loans from retained earnings
and Members’ deposits, we are not exposed to the same
stresses from overseas events as the bulk of our competitors,
giving our Members greater protection and stability.

Personalised member service

2007/08 was a particularly pleasing year for SERVICE ONE for
many reasons. The core of our existence has been and remains
our Members. Our Members tell us that we continue to provide
service standards that are exceptional. We back this up with
products and services that empower our Members and help
them reach their financial goals. This continued show of support
from Members makes me particularly proud of SERVICE ONE.
We performed well this financial year and a lot of this was to do
with Members taking advantage of our products and services,
but we also made a conscious effort to keep costs low. Through
our Members, SERVICE ONE’s loans and deposits grew and we
achieved our profit target which was particularly pleasing given
the volatility of the financial sector. As you would be well aware
SERVICE ONE does not make its profits so that they can get
distributed to external shareholders, rather they get invested
back into the business to improve services to our Members.
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At SERVICE ONE, we take pride in our service standards. Results
from our January 2008 Member Satisfaction Survey reinforced
this position. This survey revealed 93 per cent of respondents
consider our Branch service ‘very good’ or ‘good’ and 88 per
cent also consider our Internet Banking service as ‘very good’
or ‘good’. Added to this, Members told us the quality of our
products has improved, particularly for our transaction accounts,
savings accounts, car and personal loans.

Investing in the local community
Being the only local banking institution in Canberra and
its surrounds, we develop and maintain close ties with
various community organisations. Our focus on improving
the communities in which we live and work is evident from
contributions to charities through monthly staff jeans days,
to our sponsorship program and the other collaborative work
we get involved with. I personally believe it is important for
organisations such as SERVICE ONE to support the community in
which we work, and we are certainly playing our part.

“With the volatility of the
overseas markets, we are all
reminded of the benefits of
local banking.”
Our people

Award–winning products

We know our uniqueness comes from our people; our staff
continue to be our most valuable assets. I put out the challenge
to all our staff to embody the SERVICE ONE values and Member
feedback certainly indicates we are achieving success in this
area. We continue to enhance our Staff Development Program,
to not only encourage professional development, but shape the
organisational culture to be not just one of performance, but
also one that fosters care and respect.

In 2007/08, we continued to add to our award mantle, picking
up 5-star CANNEX ratings for a number of our personal and
mortgage lending products, and we were selected as a Finalist
in the Personal Lender of the Year category as part of Money
magazine’s Consumer Finance Awards 2008. These accolades
indicate the extent of our competitiveness – particularly as these
are national, independently assessed awards and it is extremely
satisfying to receive this recognition from industry experts.

We have made some structural changes to our organisation,
and recently introduced some new positions to help us continue
our work with local communities. An example of this is the
introduction of the Senior Manager Relationships, Universities
role. In many ways, the universities in the ACT provided the
foundation for a large proportion of our Member base (as far
back as the 1960s) and this new role will help strengthen ties
with this community.

The year ahead

Products and services
This past year, there have been a few developments, including
embarking on a new relationship with the CUNA Mutual Group
(CMG). CMG now provides our Members with general insurance
and insurance to cover personal and mortgage repayments.
CMG has been supplying insurance products for many years
and we are confident that through CMG, SERVICE ONE is in
a position to offer an insurance solution for your needs, at an
extremely competitive price.

Service One out and about
Our hot air balloon has been a visible feature along Canberra’s
skyline for a couple of years, but we now have some new
additions making a splash of their own. We have recently added
a fleet of branded Minis. These economical cars help us improve
our visibility in our local neighbourhoods, so keep an eye out for
them on the streets or at a community event near you.

We are excited about the year ahead. At the end of 2008, we
will be moving to a new computer banking system. While we
expect a smooth transition to this new system, we know there
may be some changes that may impact Members and we will
communicate with you should any of these issues be likely
to affect you. Importantly, this upgrade provides many new
features, particularly in regard to our eLink Internet Banking
product, that Members have told us they wanted.
The new financial year will see us extending our SERVICE ONE
Branch network, with a Branch opening at the Brindabella
Business Park at the Canberra Airport, which is quickly
developing as a business hub in Canberra. We believe this
Branch will allow us to provide a unique on-site banking
experience for workers and visitors, offering a fresh approach to
banking, with a more open-plan layout and both self-serve and
personalised banking options available to Members. In addition,
we are working on an exciting new alliance which will not only
maximise our efficiency, but increase Member benefits through
product diversification, choice and consolidation. We will
announce details later this year.
Finally, I would like to personally thank you for your continued
loyalty and, importantly, thank our staff for their commitment
and belief. We look forward to the continued success that can
be achieved with this support.

Peter Carlin
Chief Executive
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“SERVICE ONE has a longterm commitment to the
implementation of a Corporate
Social Responsibility policy in a
financially responsible manner.
Our Corporate Social
Responsibility policies will engage
leaders, Members, employees and
the community.”
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“SOMB is well known for its
outstanding support to the
Canberra community...”
ACT Chief Minister, Jon Stanhope

SERVICE ONE is well known for its
support of our local communities and
2007/08 was certainly a big year, with
SERVICE ONE contributing to over 60
community partners. These ranged from
supporting local sporting and social groups,
to school programs, regional agricultural
and community events and charitable
organisations. It gives us great pleasure
to offer a small, but we hope worthwhile,
contribution to our region.

MEDICARE CAMPAIGN

2007 SNOWY RIVER FESTIVAL
The Snowy River Festival has been a fixture on the community
calendar in the Snowy region for a number of years and SERVICE
ONE was delighted to once again, lend support to this event.
In 2007, highlights included Rob McLean working with local
horses to show his incredible horsemanship skills. The sheep
dog trials were also a huge drawcard and combined with the
ute muster, excavator challenge, quick shear competition, dog
jump, and whip crack – the event continues to not only entertain
attendees, but showcase the extraordinary skills of farmers in
the Snowy region.

In August 2007, the ACT Government launched
a campaign to urge Canberrans to update their
details with Medicare. As many who moved
from interstate still had old address details
registered with Medicare, the ACT was missing
out on Commonwealth funding which could have
been put towards improving community amenities
and facilities. To assist this process, SERVICE ONE
contributed four accounts of $5,000 over the
campaign period as an incentive for individuals to
update their details.
The campaign was a great success with 632 Canberrans
updating their address and entering the competition,
securing an additional $1.58 million in Commonwealth
funding for the ACT.
ACT Chief Minister Jon Stanhope said “SOMB is well known for
its outstanding support to the Canberra community and I do not
believe this campaign would have been as successful without
their generous support.”
nowy
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helicopter
Snowy Hydro SouthCare

WINTER AND SUMMER IN THE CAPITAL
In conjunction with the National Capital Authority, SERVICE
ONE was proud to bring the Winter and Summer in the Capital
programs to the Canberra community. The 2007 winter event
proved a huge success, with thousands of Canberrans braving
the cold to take advantage of the various activities on offer,
including the inaugural Winter Night Markets. In fact, over
14,000 Canberrans attended the night markets alone. The event
program boasted 31 stalls, allowing visitors and locals alike, to
sample food and wine along with regional crafts that were on
display.
In addition, hundreds of young riders came to Commonwealth
Place for the Sunday Bike Days during August to learn valuable
bike skills. Friday nights saw six Capital Drive-In shows which
were booked out with thousands of Canberrans enjoying movie
screenings in the comfort of their cars.
The Summer event, held in January and February, attracted
nearly 14,000 local and regional families to activities including
the free Movies by the Lake, the Tropfest movie festival and the
much loved Sunday in the Park.
The Winter and Summer in the Capital programs allowed
families to enjoy Canberra’s distinct seasons through a range of
activities, and SERVICE ONE was again proud to be involved.

SNOWY HYDRO SOUTHCARE
Snowy Hydro SouthCare provides aero-medical and rescue
helicopter services for the ACT and South Eastern NSW. The Service
provides care through three main types of helicopter missions.
In primary missions, highly-trained crews fly directly to the scene
of an accident and transport patients as quickly as possible to
hospital. Secondary missions involve patients in need of urgent,
specialised, medical-services who are transferred from regional
areas to hospitals that can provide the much needed care. The
Snowy Hydro SouthCare helicopter also conducts non-medical
missions including search and rescue and assisting the Bushfire
Service with aerial fire-fighting.
This year, the Service celebrated its ten-year anniversary and the
completion of over 3,000 missions. This year also included the
Celebrity Ballroom event, held at Canberra’s National Convention
Centre. The event raised over $88,000 for the Service that will
help Snowy Hydro SouthCare to continue saving lives.
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With an average of one mission everyday, we are fortunate
that many people in the community are alive today, as a result
of the Service. Included in this group is former patient Dave
Burrows, from Batemans Bay, who says, “You blokes kept
me here for our girls. You’re all heroes.” SERVICE ONE has
supported Snowy Hydro SouthCare since 2004.

ESCARPADE
SERVICE ONE, ActewAGL and FM104.7 combined to support the
16th annual Camp Quality esCarpade. This is a seven day ‘party
with a purpose’ in the middle of October and aims to send as
many kids to camp as possible. The journey commenced on 27
October in Canberra, and travelled through South Eastern NSW,
into Victoria and then onto Tasmania, finishing up in Launceston
on 3 November. SERVICE ONE was proud to support this event
by sponsoring the car and enabling donations to be collected
through our website and Branch network.
Camp Quality esCarpade is one of the fastest growing
automotive fundraising events in the country and the Canberra
team managed to raise an impressive $159,044 (contributing
to the national total of $922,000). This would not have been
possible without the incredible support from local businesses
and sponsors in getting the car ready and fit for racing, and
the communities that supported the team along the way with
donations. Money is critical for Camp Quality to expand its
programs, and to help even more children living with cancer and
their families.

CA BRUMBIES

FOR THE KIDS

We continued our support of the CA Brumbies throughout
the 2008 season, which was the first year for the team
without foundation players George Gregan and Stephen
Larkham. It certainly ended up being a season of highs and
lows. The Brumbies finished up ninth on the Super 14 ladder
with a total of six wins and seven losses. The 2008 injury toll did
not help the team’s cause, with a total of 96 weeks lost to injury
– the highest injury toll in the club’s history.
The CA Brumbies did manage the highest number of tries
scored in the competition out of all the Australian teams. Other
highlights for the season included their first win at Eden Park in
New Zealand since 2001 and a win over the Sharks in April (who
were undefeated at the time).
The Toss the Coin competition, which we ran in conjunction
with the Brumbies, once again proved popular, with one of our
Members winning the chance to toss the coin with the captains.
SERVICE ONE was also the presenting partner for the 2008 CA
Brumbies Presentation Dinner, and the formal proceedings for
the evening saw George Smith win his seventh Brett Robinson
Players Player Award.

The colouring-in competitions, as part of our Member
magazines, continue to prove popular with our younger
Members. Hundreds of entries were submitted following the
distribution of the magazines and the creativity from our youth
is quite incredible. Six $100 Day to Day Savings Accounts are
awarded through the year – not a bad kick-start to encourage
saving from an early age.

SUPPORTING INTERNATIONAL
COMMUNITIES
One of our SERVICE ONE Directors, Erik Adriaanse, was part of a
16 person entourage of credit union representatives from around
Australia to travel to Cambodia as part of the Cambodian
Credit Union Outreach Program. As an initiative of the Credit
Union Foundation Australia, this program is aimed at providing
leadership, governance, savings advice, lending guidance
and financial literacy to cooperative institutions throughout
Cambodia – all in the effort to teach Cambodians to have trust
again and understand the importance and implications of saving
and lending money.

With new coaching staff, the Brumbies will be looking to
develop a sense of stability quickly in 2009.

STAFF SUPPORT
SERVICE ONE staff continue to support
charities through our Jeans Day efforts.
During the 2007/08 financial year, we
have contributed much needed funds
to SIDS and Kids, ACT Organ and
Tissue, Relay for Life, RSPCA, the
Smith Family, Leukemia Foundation,
Rotary Club, Loud Shirt Day and the
St Vincent de Paul Society. We were
also involved with other charitable
events such as the World’s
Greatest Shave, Jeans for Genes
Day and regional programs such
as Meals on Wheels.
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“Continue to foster staff that are
friendly and helpful to Members;
and care about what they are,
and do for Members; I have been
with SERVICE ONE for many
years, and what I like most, to
quote a popular movie, is the
‘vibe’. I find it hard to put into
words, but please continue with
the ‘vibe’.”
Member
Because our focus is working in our Members’ best interests
and providing exceptional Member service, our staff are truly
our biggest asset. We provide our staff with a supportive and
stimulating workplace and encourage them to grow both
professionally and personally. Our staff are without a doubt
committed, motivated and effective.
SERVICE ONE has a number of programs that aim to assist staff.
These include a Reward and Recognition program, (designed to
recognise work that fits with our corporate vision, values and
strategies). We also offer competitive employment conditions
and aim to maintain a flexible workplace (almost 40 per cent of
our Branch roles are now part-time providing staff with flexibility
and improved return to work options for parents).
We continually focus on our team’s health and wellbeing,
and support a series of staff welfare programs. These include
operating a comprehensive Employee Assistance Program which
is available to all staff and their families, providing annual flu
immunisations to our team, and participating in a new ACT
Health-funded study ‘The Job Stress and Workplace Mental
Health Study’. This study aims to help us understand and reduce
job stress through examining the relationship between working
conditions and health and instigating workplace interventions.
We are committed to creating a culture that supports and
fosters diversity, excellence, honesty and integrity. To do this, we
have instigated a number of initiatives including a weekly staff
newsletter, a quarterly Chief Executive forum and staff surveys.

annual weekend away program. This provides an opportunity to
bring all staff together – an important element considering the
geographic spread of our Branches – and enables us to share
learnings that will improve our performance.
The results of our most recent staff survey confirmed strong staff
satisfaction levels across SERVICE ONE. Eighty-eight per cent of
staff ‘strongly agreed’ or ’agreed’ that overall, SERVICE ONE is a
good place to work and 83 per cent ‘strongly agreed’ or ‘agreed’
that SERVICE ONE strives to provide a good place to work.
Our focus on developing our staff sees us providing support
for study, a commitment to developing our emerging leaders
and employment policies that encourage development and
learning. Later in the year, one of our staff will participate in
the Cambodian Leadership Challenge to provide much needed
support in Cambodia. This will be a challenging and rewarding
experience and is yet another example of SERVICE ONE making
a conscious effort to professionally develop our people, while
maintaining a strong sense of giving back to the community.
We believe our uniqueness comes from our people and we
know that Members value this; 100 per cent of Members in our
last Member survey suggested they wanted SERVICE ONE to
have ‘interested and helpful staff who provide friendly service’.
Our goal is to develop and encourage our staff so that we can
deliver on this Member expectation.

In addition, we foster teamwork and cohesion through our
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OUR ENVIRONMENT
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Although our formal focus on environmental issues is in
its infancy, SERVICE ONE is continually looking for ways to
balance environmental sustainability and financial goals. Our
commitment to our Corporate Social Responsibility policy has
seen us take a socially responsible approach to banking by
recognising the impact of our actions on the environment, our
Members and the communities that we all participate in.
Our environmental initiatives, while seemingly small in the grand
scheme of things, were positive and real steps taken by all of our
team. They have given us the platform for future initiatives. In
particular, we have already committed to:
•

paper recycling and waste recycling at our Head Office

•

phone and web conferencing, to reduce the need for
travel between our Head Office and Branches, while still
maintaining meaningful dialogue through direct team
communication

•

the installation of energy-efficient water systems

•

the installation of time switches for air-conditioning to
reduce energy use during off-peak periods and for low use
accommodation, and

•

the latest in energy efficient lighting at our new Branch at
the Brindabella Business Park.

When we purchased our corporate cars, SERVICE ONE made a
conscious decision to ensure we secured vehicles that would be
economical. Both the Mini Cooper and Clubman models scored
a four-star rating in the Green Vehicle Guide.
We are looking to improve our environmentally-friendly program
even further, evaluating ideas that include:
•

audits of our energy usage, assessment of energy targets
and identification of reduction options

•

carbon offset initiatives

•

regional tree-planting projects with local community groups

•

an education program for staff and Members, and

•

product development to support environmental sustainability.

Although relatively small, our actions align strongly with our
values and, importantly, mirror the individual commitment and
expectations of our Members and staff.
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Corporate Directory

Administration Centre
Service One Credit Union
Limited operating as SERVICE
ONE Members Banking
ABN 42 095 848 598
AFS Licence No 240836
75 Denison Street
Deakin ACT 2600
Locked Bag 1
Deakin ACT 2600
BSB 801 009
Telephone 1300 361 761
Facsimile (02) 6215 7171
For overseas callers
+ 61 2 6215 7112

Internet and Email
balloon
hot air
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E
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SERVIC

www.somb.com.au
members@somb.com.au

Phone Banking
(Australia)
1300 361 431

Branch Locations
Australian National University
Concessions Area, Acton
Batemans Bay
Shop G21C, Stockland Centre
Belconnen
Shop 164, Gallery Level
Belconnen Mall
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Bemboka
Loftus Street
Brindabella Business Park
(Opening Soon)
23 Brindabella Circuit, The
Canberra Airport
Calvary Hospital
Haydon Drive, Bruce

Directors
Mr John Clarke (Chair) LLB
Mr Erik Adriaanse BA (Acc),
FCPA, FPS
Professor Jennifer Corbett BA
(Hons), MA (Ec), MA, PhD
Mr Ian Davis BA (Hons)

Audit and Compliance
Committee
Mr Erik Adriaanse (Chair)
Mr John Clarke
Mrs Deborah Robinson

Finance and Risk
Committee

Mrs Joanne Krueger MBA, Dip
Fin Serv, FAMI,BHSc (Nursing)
(to 25 January 2008)

Mr Ian Davis (Chair)

Mr Winston Phillips JP

Professor Jennifer Corbett

Deakin
75 Denison Street

Mrs Deborah Robinson MBA,
B.Comm, FAICD

Bankers

Narooma
Narooma Plaza,
Corner Princes Highway &
Willcocks Avenue

Mr Colin Smeal

Solicitors

Executive

DLA Phillips Fox

Mr Peter Carlin – Chief
Executive BA (Acctng), FCPA

Internal Auditor

Mr Matthew Smith – Deputy
Chief Executive and Chief
Finance Officer B.Comm, CPA

External Auditor

Canberra City
Shop 32A, Baileys Arcade
Cooma
138 Sharp Street

Queanbeyan
68 – 70 Monaro Street
The Canberra Hospital
Yamba Drive, Garran
Tuggeranong
Shop 18, Lower Level
Tuggeranong Hyperdome
Tumut
52 – 54 Russell Street
University of Canberra
The Hub
Woden
Shop 71, Gallery Court
Westfield Woden

Ms Anna Storti – General
Manager – Retail MBA (Exec)
Mr Tony Brown – Head of Risk
and Compliance

Corporate
Governance
Committee

Mr John Clarke

JP Morgan Chase Bank

Walter Turnbull

Ernst & Young

Insurers
Chubb Insurance Company of
Australia Ltd
Specialist Underwriting
Agencies P/L

Mr Colin Smeal (Chair)
Professor Jennifer Corbett
Mr Winston Phillips
Mrs Joanne Krueger
(to 25 January 2008)
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Directors

John Clark
(Chair)
John has been a
Director of Service
One Credit Union
since 2001 and prior
to that was a Director
of Snowy Mountains
Credit Union from 1996.
Since 1975, he has been
a barrister and solicitor
for the Supreme Courts of NSW, ACT and the High Court of
Australia practicing in Cooma. He is President of the Cooma
Rotary Club and has been involved with many other community
organisations including Apex, Landcare, women’s refuge, nursing
homes, preschools, daycare centres and has been a probono
adviser to various community organisations for many years.

Jennifer Corbett
Jennifer was appointed
as a non-executive
Director of Service
One Credit Union
in August 2005 and
elected as Director in
2006. She is currently
a Professor of Economics at the Crawford School of Economics
and Government, and Executive Director of the AustraliaJapan Research Centre at the ANU. Jennifer is also a Fellow of
St Antony’s College, Oxford and was, for several years, Chair
of its Finance Committee. Jennifer’s research interests include
corporate governance of financial institutions.
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Erik Adriaanse
Erik is a qualified fellow
CPA, a past CPA ACT
Divisional Councillor
and past President
of CPA Australia in
Canberra. He was also a
Board member of Legacy
Canberra, the Cultural
Facilities Corporation,
Australian Council of
Professions and the CIT Audit and Compliance Committee. He
is presently a Director of Snowy Hydro SouthCare Helicopter
Trust and the ANU Centre for Dialogue Steering Committee.
Following a 30 year background as an Accountant and Financial
Planner in private practice he is currently General Manager of
the Independent Property Group. He has completed 19 Sydney
to Hobart yacht races winning three times and has represented
Australia in sailing. Erik has climbed Mt Kilimanjaro and reached
6500 metres on Mt Everest.

Ian Davis
Ian has lived in Canberra for more
than 20 years. He is Chief Executive
of National Publishers (previously
National Capital Newsletters), which he
established after a career in journalism
(Finance Editor and News Editor of The
Canberra Times, Government Business
Editor of The Australian Financial Review
and Economics Correspondent for The
Age). National Publishers develops and publishes newsletters
and other publications for industry associations, government
agencies and companies. Ian is also a member of the Council
of the University of Canberra and the ACT Government’s
Accreditation and Registration Council.

Deborah
Robinson
A Canberra resident
since 1974, Deborah
has over 20 years
experience in the
workforce, firstly in
an audit role with
a firm of Chartered
Accountants and then
as a manager/tax adviser with the government sector. Deborah
has been a Credit Union Member for over 30 years and an
active Board member for 13 years. She has a Master of Business
Administration, a Bachelor of Commerce and has completed the
Company Directors Course Diploma and the AICD Mastering the
Boardroom Advanced Program. Deborah has strong financial
and corporate governance skills, and a thorough understanding
of the financial services industry.

Winston Phillips
Winston is 57 years of age,
father of four children, lives
on a farm near Cooma and
works for the Department of
Defence in Cooma. He was a Director of Snowy Mountains
Credit Union from 1996 and Chairman for two years. He has
been a Director of Service One Credit Union since it was formed
in 2001. Chairman of the Sir William Hudson Memorial Centre
Nursing Home since 1999 and a Director since 1996, Winston
has also been a Councillor on the Cooma-Monaro Shire Council
since 1991 and served two years as Deputy Mayor. A volunteer
member of Bush Fire Brigades for 39 years, Winston is Chairman
of the Cooma-Monaro District Rural Fire Services Committee. He
has been a Director on the Cooma Rural Lands Protection Board
since October 2006.

Colin Smeal
A member of the Service
One Credit Union Board
since 2002, Colin came
to Canberra in 1964 after
having worked for a major
bank in Sydney. He has a long history serving the ACT Hospital
system and was a Director of the ACT Hospitals and Health
Employees Credit Union for nine years. Colin has held many
senior positions in both the private and public sector including
Director of Employment and Industrial Relations and Personal
Services, Director Administration, Royal Canberra Hospital and
Director Executive and Workforce Management in the ACT Chief
Minister’s Department. Colin is currently working on health
policy issues with the Federal Department of Health and Ageing.
21

Corporate Governance Statement

22

On 31 March 2003 the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX)
Corporate Governance Council released its Principles of Good
Corporate Governance and Best Practice Recommendations
(the Recommendations). The second edition of these
Recommendations was released in August 2007. SERVICE ONE,
because it is an unlisted public company, is not obliged to report
on whether or not it follows the Recommendations. However,
the Board has chosen to do so in relation to those matters which
are material to non-listed public companies in acknowledgement
of its responsibility for and commitment to best practice in
corporate governance.

Board of Directors

Although the primary driver of this document is the ASX Rules,
it is also influenced by the release by APRA of its APS510 –
Governance, stipulating the minimum governance requirements
of Authorised Deposit-taking Institutions.

In order to meet these responsibilities, the key functions of the
Board include:
•

Establishing, making appointments and making delegations
to Board committees

The Board recognises that achieving best practice is an ongoing
process and will reflect changes in community thinking.

•

SERVICE ONE has developed a corporate governance section on
our website. The various codes, policies and terms of reference
referred to in this statement are published on our website.

Appointing, delegating to, supporting, evaluating and
rewarding the Chief Executive and having in place a
succession plan

•

Seeking to achieve a diverse and effective Board, with
appropriate skills, operating standards and procedures for
the Board and its committees

•

Determining, monitoring and reviewing the strategic
direction and objectives

•

Approving, monitoring and reviewing the strategic plan
including financial and non-financial performance measures

•

Ensuring that the principal business risks have been identified
and the implementation and monitoring by management of
a framework to manage those risks

•

Reviewing, approving and monitoring policy, within a policy
and compliance framework

•

Ensuring a process is in place for the maintenance of the
integrity of internal controls, and financial and management
information systems

•

Ensuring processes are in place so that SERVICE ONE acts
legally and responsibly on all matters

The Board has adopted the following key responsibilities:
•

Act in the best interest of SERVICE ONE as a whole

•

Observe their duties as Directors in terms of corporations
law, general law, SERVICE ONE’s constitution and other
relevant legislation

•

Compliance with APRA prudential standards, and

•

Enhance Member value.

•

Ensuring that appropriate ethical standards are maintained

•

Reviewing, determining and monitoring the skills and
performance of:

•

-

the Board as a whole

-

Directors as individuals

-

Board subcommittees, and

Reporting to the Members on the Board’s stewardship as
required.

Composition of the Board
The Constitution of SERVICE ONE (the Constitution) stipulates
that the Board consists of a minimum of five and no more than
10 Directors. At all times the Board must have no less than five
elected Directors. The Constitution also allows the Board to
appoint a Director for a 12-month term.
Directors’ profiles appear on page 20 and 21.
Subject to the following paragraphs, elected Directors serve a
three year term and retire in rotation but may stand for reelection. Any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy during
the financial year must also have that appointment confirmed by
a resolution of Members at that year’s Annual General Meeting.
The Constitution provides that other than a Director who is
a current Chair of the Board, a Director who has served 12
consecutive years as a Director will retire from the Board at the
first Annual General Meeting immediately following their 12
year anniversary, subject only to a prior unanimous decision by
the Board to extend (or support the extension of) that Director’s
tenure. Such a unanimous resolution by the Board is to be made
in the absence of the Director concerned.
In the case of a serving Chair the period above is 15 years.

Board Processes
The Board generally meets monthly and more regularly if
required.
The agenda for Board meetings is prepared by the Chair of the
Board in conjunction with the Chief Executive.

should comprise a majority of independent Directors and that its
Chair should be an independent Director.

Board and Director Performance
Evaluation
The Board has a formal process for evaluating the performance
and skills of the Board. A fuller description of this process can be
found in the Board Charter on SERVICE ONE’s website. A formal
evaluation of the performance and skills mix of the Board, its
Committees, the Directors and the Chief Executive was carried
out in accordance with the Board Charter requirements.
Remuneration for Directors or the Chief Executive does not
contain any component related to profit sharing or the issue of
stock or options.

Director Independence
The Recommendations indicate that the Board should comprise
a majority of independent Directors. An independent Director
being considered independent of management and free of any
business or other relationship that could materially interfere with,
or could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with, the
exercise of their unfettered and independent judgement.
However, the Constitution of SERVICE ONE stipulates that a
Director has to be a Member of SERVICE ONE and in most
cases that means a Director will have deposits and, possibly,
loans with SERVICE ONE, which might compromise that
independence. Details of loans to Directors and other Director
related transactions are included in the annual Financial Report
beginning on page 32.
The Board is of the view that it would ordinarily expect a
relationship to be considered material when it accounts for more
than five per cent of the total services provided by the Member
or supplier or more than 20 per cent of the total supplies of
SERVICE ONE or services of the same, or a similar, nature.
Taking into account the above qualifications, the Board has
determined that each of the Directors is an independent Director.
In so determining, the Board had regard to the information
contained in the profile of each Director and the tests set out in
the Recommendations.

The Board is of the view that the Board shall only comprise nonexecutive Directors. The Board has adopted the principle that it
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Director access to Professional
advice
To assist in the effective discharge of their duties, Directors may,
in consultation with the Chair, seek independent legal advice
on their duties and responsibilities at the expense of SERVICE
ONE and, in due course, make all Board members aware of both
instructions to advisors and the advice obtained.

Director access to Employees
Members of the Executive regularly attend Board meetings and
Directors have unfettered direct access to the Executives of
SERVICE ONE.

The minutes of all Board Committee meetings are tabled, and
any recommendations are considered at the next scheduled
Board meeting. The membership of Board Committees are
detailed on page 19 and attendances at meetings are set out in
the Directors’ Report on page 30.
All Directors are entitled to attend all Board Committee
meetings.

The Corporate Governance Committee
The Committee’s role includes:
•

Reviewing and reporting to the Board on current corporate
governance policies and reviewing outcomes

•

Reviewing and reporting to the Board on best practice
developments in corporate governance issues

•

Providing recommendations to the Board on corporate
governance practices after assessment and review

•

Reviewing and reporting to the Board on SERVICE
ONE’s compliance with APS510 and the best practice
recommendations of the ASX Corporate Governance Council

•

Reviewing disclosure of corporate governance policies and
information on SERVICE ONE’s website

•

Providing recommendations to the Board on effective
policies and procedures to ensure effective communication
of SERVICE ONE’s corporate governance polices to Members,
media, analysts and industry participants, and

•

Providing recommendations to the Board on technical or
professional development courses to assist Directors in
keeping up to date with relevant issues and practices.

Board Committees
The Board has three formally constituted standing committees to
assist it in decision-making, oversight and control:
•

the Audit and Compliance Committee

•

the Finance and Risk Committee, and

•

the Corporate Governance Committee.

In addition to the above standing committees the Board also
establishes the following ad hoc committees from time to time
and as necessary:
•

a Director Nominations Committee

•

a Constitutional Review Committee, and

•

a Remuneration Committee.

All committees have written Terms of Reference.
Other than the Director Nominations Committee, membership
of the committees comprises Directors with representatives of
management attending committees as required. Membership
of the Director Nominations committee comprises two nonmembers (Robyn FitzRoy and Alexander Sala) as well as the
Chair of the Board. In the years that the Chair is a candidate for
election to the Board another Director is chosen by the Board as
the third member of the committee.
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The Committee from time-to-time seeks advice from external
experts.

Audit and Compliance Committee

•

Facilitating communication between the internal auditor, the
external auditor and the Board

Considering and reviewing the policies and procedures
for the selection, appointment and reappointment of the
external auditor, the rotation of external audit engagement
partners and the terms of any such appointment

•

•

Reviewing and considering any changes to accounting
policies

Monitoring SERVICE ONE’s compliance with legal obligations
to which it is subject, and

•

•

Receiving and considering reports from management so
as to determine the effectiveness of SERVICE ONE’s risk
management systems

Assisting the Board and management in monitoring
risk management, controls and corporate governance
performance.

The Committee’s role includes:
•

•

•

If necessary, requiring the internal auditor or Head of Risk
and Compliance to undertake an audit or compliance project
and report on such
Considering and reviewing with the external auditor, the
internal auditor and management:
-

-

•

-

•

Confirming and assuring the independence of the internal
and external auditors

•

Considering and reviewing, in consultation with the external
auditor and the internal auditor, the audit scope and plan of
the internal auditor and the external auditor

•

Reviewing year-end accounts to ensure that such accounts
have been prepared in accordance with proper accounting
principles and recommending them for adoption by the
Board. This will incorporate review of the management
letter prepared by the external auditor and the management
response to that letter

•

Reviewing SERVICE ONE’s insurance arrangements

•

Recommending the appointment and removal of the external
auditor

•

Considering the level of fees payable to the external
auditors, and

•

Assessing the performance and independence of the external
auditor and whether the independence of this function
is maintained having regard to the provision of non-audit
related services.

any related significant findings and recommendations
of the external auditor and the internal auditor together
with management’s responses to such findings and
recommendations

Considering and reviewing with management and the
internal auditor:
-

•

the adequacy of SERVICE ONE’s internal controls to
minimise risk or exposures, including computerised
information system controls and security

In discharging the above general responsibilities the Committee
will undertake the following specific functions:

significant findings during the year and management’s
responses to such findings
any difficulties encountered in the course of internal
audits, including any restrictions on the scope of their
work or access to required information

-

any changes required in the planned scope of the internal
audit plan

-

the internal audit budget and staffing

Reviewing legal and regulatory matters that may have a
material impact on SERVICE ONE’s compliance policies and
programs and reports received from APRA

The external and internal auditors have a direct line of
communication to the Chair of the Audit and Compliance
Committee and meet regularly, in camera, with the Committee.
The external auditor of SERVICE ONE is Ernst & Young who
attends the Annual General Meeting of SERVICE ONE and is
available to take questions from Members.
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The internal audit is outsourced to Walter Turnbull, a firm of
chartered accountants.

> the risk to earnings from fluctuations in exchange
rates and market volatility

The internal audit function operates under documented
standards and procedures for auditing that set out the purpose,
authority and responsibility of the internal audit function. The
function of the internal audit is to provide an independent
assessment of risk and compliance with internal controls.

> the risk from changes in the value of portfolios of
financial instruments

The internal audit plan is approved by the Audit and Compliance
Committee each year and outlines a program of internal audits
to be conducted for the year.

> the risk from material changes in global and domestic
economic conditions generally
•

Reviewing and approving loan and other financial facility
submissions, credit limits and exposures above the levels and
limits delegated by the Board to management or within the
levels and limits as specifically delegated to the Committee
by the Board from time to time

•

Overseeing budget processes and reviewing and reporting to
the Board on matters in relation to financial performance

•

Reporting to the Board on all material matters arising from
its review and monitoring functions by the provision to the
Board of the Committee’s minutes of meetings or by special
report, as appropriate

•

Reviewing and making recommendations on any changes to
risk limit structures, and

•

Overseeing and monitoring management’s annual risk
assessment.

The results of all internal audits are reported to the Audit and
Compliance Committee. In addition, processes have been put in
place to ensure that appropriate follow-up actions are taken in
relation to significant audit findings and identified areas of risk.
The Head of Risk and Compliance attends all Audit and
Compliance Committee meetings, other than the in camera
sessions.

The Finance and Risk Committee
The Committee’s role includes:
•

Overseeing and monitoring SERVICE ONE’s policies and
procedures in relation to the management and control of the
following risks:
-

credit risk: being the risks from a borrower or counterparty failing to meet contractual obligations to SERVICE
ONE or to perform as agreed

-

liquidity risk: being the risk from SERVICE ONE’s inability
to meet obligations when they become due without
incurring unacceptable losses because of an inability to
liquidate assets or to obtain adequate funding

Internal Control Framework

market risk: being the following risks:

The Board monitors the operational and financial performance
of SERVICE ONE against budget and other key performance
measures through a structure of regular management reports
to the Board and its committees. The Board also receives and
reviews reports and advice on areas of operational and financial
risk. The Audit and Compliance Committee reviews on an
annual basis the adequacy of insurance coverage to mitigate
certain operational risks of SERVICE ONE.

-

> funding risk: the risk of over-reliance on a particular
funding source, the volatility of funding costs or
availability of funding
>	interest rate risk: the risk from movements in interest
rates and the impact on pricing relationships between
asset and liability products of a retail or wholesale
nature
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operational risk: being the risk attributable to the daily
operations of SERVICE ONE

The Head of Risk and Compliance attends all Finance and Risk
Committee meetings, other than the in camera sessions.

Business Risk Identification and Management

SERVICE ONE has established controls at the Board, Executive
and business unit levels that are designed to safeguard the
interests of SERVICE ONE and ensure the integrity of reporting
(including accounting, financial reporting, occupational health
and safety, and other internal control policies and procedures).
These controls are designed to ensure that SERVICE ONE
complies with regulatory requirements and community
standards.
The Chief Executive and the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) provide
the Board with statements about SERVICE ONE’s financial reports
and compliance with the Corporations Act, APRA’s prudential
standards and the accounting standards. The statements reflect
the declarations required to be made by Directors in the Annual
Financial Report.
The Chief Executive and CFO have provided the Board with
statements that the financial reporting risk management and
associated compliance controls have been assessed and found
to be operating efficiently and effectively. The operational and
other risk management compliance controls have also been
assessed and found to be operating efficiently and effectively.
At least annually, formal performance appraisals are conducted
for all employees.
SERVICE ONE has an active Occupational Health and Safety
Committee. That Committee comprises both managers and
other employees. The Head of Risk and Compliance is a member
of that Committee.

conduct its operations without needing to rely on the collection
of personal financial information.
The Board has adopted Codes of Conduct, which set out the
expectations for Directors and staff in their business affairs and
in dealings with Members. The Codes of Conduct require high
standards of personal integrity and honesty in all dealings, a
respect for the privacy of Members and others and observance
of the law.
New staff members are provided with a copy of the Staff
Business Code of Conduct when they join SERVICE ONE and it is
readily accessible online for existing staff members.
The Board regularly reviews all its policies to ensure their
continued relevance and effectiveness.
Where necessary, at a Board meeting Directors report on any
interest that could potentially conflict with those of SERVICE
ONE and report on any Director related transactions in the Notes
to the Annual Financial Report.

Communication with Members
The Board aims to ensure that Members are informed of all
major developments affecting the state of affairs of SERVICE
ONE. Information is communicated to Members as follows:
•

The Annual Report is distributed to all Members who request
it and includes relevant information about the operations
of SERVICE ONE during the year, changes in the state of
affairs of SERVICE ONE and details of future developments,
in addition to other disclosures required by the Corporations
Act 2001

•

Twice yearly a magazine is sent to all active Members of
SERVICE ONE

•

When SERVICE ONE becomes aware of information which,
in the view of the Board, requires Members to be notified a
letter is sent to Members

•

SERVICE ONE regularly conducts surveys to determine the
perceptions and feedback of Members

•

SERVICE ONE may, in some instances, communicate with
Members via email should their details be available, and

•

The SERVICE ONE website contains information to keep
Members informed of current events.

Ethical Standards
The core values of SERVICE ONE centre on improving the quality
and efficiency of financial service delivery by providing products
and services to help Members meet their financial goals.
To this end, SERVICE ONE is committed to maintaining the
highest ethical standards in delivering products and services to
its Members.
SERVICE ONE acknowledges that personal financial information
is sensitive and subject to privacy legislation. To this end,
SERVICE ONE is committed to ethical and appropriate practices
and compliance with relevant privacy legislation. It has in place
processes to maintain the expectations of the community and
Members for the security, privacy and integrity of personal
financial information. Where appropriate, SERVICE ONE aims to
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Directors’ Report

Your Directors present their report, together with the financial
statements of Service One Credit Union Limited (the Credit
Union) and its consolidated entities (the group) for the year
ended 30 June 2008.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Credit Union, in office during the year and
at the date of this report are:
Mr John Clarke (Chair)
Mr Erik Adriaanse
Professor Jennifer Corbett

INDEMNIFYING AN OFFICER OR
AUDITOR
No indemnities have been given or paid, during or since the end
of the financial year, for any person who is or has been an officer
or auditor of the Credit Union.
Insurance premiums have been paid to insure each of the
Directors and Executive Officers of the Credit Union, against
any costs and expenses incurred by them in defending any legal
proceeding arising out of their conduct, while acting in their
capacity as an officer of the Credit Union. The premiums relating
to this insurance cannot be disclosed under the terms and
conditions of this policy.

Mr Ian Davis
Mrs Joanne Krueger (to 25 January 2008)
Mr Winston Phillips
Mrs Deborah Robinson, and
Mr Colin Smeal.
Details of the qualifications, experience and special
responsibilities of each Director, in office at the date of this
report, are on pages 19, 20 and 21.

The principal activities of the Credit Union and the group during
the financial year were the provision of retail financial services,
insurance and other associated services to the Members of the
Credit Union in accordance with the Constitution of the Credit
Union.
There were no significant changes in the principal activities
during the year.

COMPANY SECRETARIES

OPERATING RESULTS

Peter L Carlin BA (Acctng), FCPA

The profit of the Credit Union and the group after income tax
was $2,144,000 (2007: $1,421,000). Included in the results for
2008 was a profit of $1,068,000 (before tax) from the sale of
the the Credit Union’s premises at 75 Denison Street, Deakin
ACT.

Mr Carlin has been a Company Secretary and Chief Executive of
the Credit Union for seven years. Prior to holding this position he
was Company Secretary and Chief Executive of The Credit Union
of Canberra Ltd for six years.
Mr Carlin has been a CPA for over 18 years.

Matthew D Smith B.Comm, CPA
Mr Smith has been a Company Secretary of the Credit Union
for four years and CFO of the Credit Union for seven years.
Prior to holding this position he was CFO of The Credit Union of
Canberra Ltd for six years.
Mr Smith has been a CPA for over eight years.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

In accordance with Rule 7.1 of the Constitution of the Credit
Union, no dividends are payable.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
The results of the Credit Union’s operations are as follows:

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF
AFFAIRS

Reserves

No matter or circumstance that has arisen since the end of the
year has significantly affected or may significantly effect:

An amount of $2,020,000 (2007: $1,394,000) was transferred
to reserves and $124,000 (2007: $27,000) was transferred to
capital. Members’ funds, representing reserves and capital, now
total $20,749,000 (2007: $18,605,000).

(i) the operations of the Credit Union

Assets

in the financial years subsequent to this financial year.

Assets increased by 13% to $266,074,000 (2007:
$234,684,000).

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND RESULTS

Loans

Other than in the normal course of business, no significant
developments are expected in the Credit Union’s operation in
future financial years.

Loan balances increased by 10% to $212,781,000 (2007:
$193,535,000).

Deposits
Deposit balances increased by 14% to $240,822,000 (2007:
$211,745,000).

Members

(ii) the results of those operations, or
(iii) the state of affairs of the Credit Union

ROUNDING
The amounts contained in the financial statements have been
rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars, in accordance with
the Australian Securities and Investment Commission Class Order
98/100. The Credit Union is permitted to round to the nearest
one thousand dollars ($’000) for all amounts except prescribed
disclosures which are shown in whole dollars.

Shareholder numbers decreased by 0.6% to 33,505 (2007:
33,706).
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10

10

10

6
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1
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6
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2

2

2

2

2

1

2

2

2

2
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5

5

Eligible to
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10
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5

5

Attended

10

Attended
5
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5
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Committee
Eligible to
attend

10

Audit and
Compliance
Committee
Eligible to
attend

Attended

10

Corporate
Governance
Committee
Eligible to
attend

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS
No Director has received or become entitled to receive, during the financial year or since 30 June
2008, a benefit (other than benefits disclosed at note 25 of the financial statements) by reason of
a contract made by the Credit Union, or an entity within the Credit Union group, with the Director,
a firm of which the Director is a member, or a company in which the Director has a substantial
financial interest.

AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE
The Directors have been provided the Auditor’s Independence Declaration and that Declaration
appears below.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

		

JC Clarke				EM Adriaanse
Chair					
Chair – Audit and Compliance Committee
Dated this 15th day of August 2008.

Auditor’s Independence declaration to the Directors
of Service One Credit Union LTD
In relation to our audit of the financial report of Service One Credit Union Ltd for the financial year
ended 30 June 2008, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions
of auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of
professional conduct.

Ernst & Young

G. J. Knuckey
Partner
Canberra
15 August 2008
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Income Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2008

Notes

Consolidated

Service One Credit Union Ltd

2008

2007

2008

2007

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Interest income

3

19,113

16,843

19,113

16,843

Interest expense

3

(8,312)

(7,094)

(8,312)

(7,094)

Net interest income

3

10,801

9,749

10,801

9,749

Other operating income

4

5,448

4,767

5,448

4,767

(92)

(124)

(92)

(124)

(13,320)

(12,409)

(13,320)

(12,409)

2,837

1,983

2,837

1,983

(693)

(562)

(693)

(562)

2,144

1,421

2,144

1,421

Impairment losses on loans and advances
Other operating expenses

9 (c)
4

Profit before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net profit attributable to Members after
income tax expense

5
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Balance Sheet
At 30 June 2008

Notes

Consolidated

Service One Credit Union Ltd

2008

2007

2008

2007

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

6

9,544

6,768

9,544

6,768

Receivables due from other financial institutions

7

37,782

24,882

37,782

24,882

Accrued receivables

8

916

835

916

835

Loans and advances

9

212,781

193,535

212,781

193,535

Other financial assets

11

85

-

85

-

Available for sale investments

12

1,496

1,516

1,296

1,317

Property, plant and equipment

13

2,005

5,296

2,005

5,296

Intangibles

14

696

625

696

625

Deferred tax assets

5

222

271

222

271

Other

15

547

956

547

956

266,074

234,684

265,874

234,485

TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Payables to other financial institutions

16

4

56

4

56

Deposits and borrowings

17

240,969

212,410

240,969

212,411

Deferred tax liabilities

5

159

346

159

346

Trade and other payables

18

2,986

2,483

2,986

2,483

Provisions

19

1,207

784

1,207

784

245,325

216,079

245,325

216,080

20,749

18,605

20,549

18,405

20,364

18,344

20,164

18,144

385

261

385

261

20,749

18,605

20,549

18,405

TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
MEMBERS’ FUNDS
Reserves
Capital
TOTAL MEMBERS’ FUNDS
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2008
Consolidated
Capital
Asset
Revaluation Redemption
Account
Reserve

Retained
Profits

General
Reserve
for Credit
Losses

General
Reserve

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

402

234

-

405

16,143

17,184

Profit for the year

-

-

1,421

-

-

1,421

Transfer from/(to) general reserve

-

-

(1,394)

31

1,363

-

Transfer from/(to) capital redemption
reserve

-

27

(27)

-

-

-

Closing 30th June 2007

402

261

-

436

17,506

18,605

Opening – 1st July 2007

402

261

-

436

17,506

18,605

-

-

2,144

-

-

2,144

(402)

-

(2,020)

-

2,422

-

Transfer from/(to) capital redemption
reserve

-

124

(124)

-

-

-

Closing 30th June 2008

-

385

-

436

19,928

20,749

Capital
Asset
Revaluation Redemption
Account
Reserve

Retained
Profits

General
Reserve
for Credit
Losses

General
Reserve

Total

Opening – 1st July 2006

Profit for the year
Transfer from/(to) general reserve

Service One Credit Union Ltd

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

402

234

-

405

15,943

16,984

Profit for the year

-

-

1,421

-

-

1,421

Transfer from/(to) general reserve

-

-

(1,394)

31

1,363

-

Transfer from/(to) capital redemption
reserve

-

27

(27)

-

-

-

Closing 30th June 2007

402

261

-

436

17,306

18,405

Opening – 1st July 2007

402

261

-

436

17,306

18,405

-

-

2,144

-

-

2,144

(402)

-

(2,020)

-

2,422

-

Transfer (from)/to capital redemption
reserve

-

124

(124)

-

-

-

Closing 30th June 2008

-

385

-

436

19,728

20,549

Opening – 1st July 2006

Profit for the year
Transfer from/(to) general reserve
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2008

Notes

Consolidated

Service One Credit Union Ltd

2008

2007

2008

2007

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Interest received

19,032

17,110

19,032

17,110

Interest costs

(7,764)

(6,904)

(7,764)

(6,904)

4,175

4,459

4,175

4,459

(12,017)

(11,180)

(12,017)

(11,180)

(328)

(323)

(328)

(323)

GST received

537

94

537

94

Dividends received

110

111

110

111

(503)

(413)

(503)

(413)

95

188

95

188

3,337

3,142

3,337

3,142

Net (increase)/decrease in investments

(12,880)

18,483

(12,880)

18,483

Net (increase)/decrease in loans to Members

(19,338)

(24,851)

(19,338)

(24,851)

4,360

23

4,360

23

(1,262)

(2,774)

(1,262)

(2,774)

(29,120)

(9,119)

(29,120)

(9,119)

Net increase in deposits from Members

29,077

3,033

29,077

3,033

Net cash flows from financing activities

29,077

3,033

29,077

3,033

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held

3,294

(2,944)

3,294

(2,944)

Cash at beginning of year

6,103

9,047

6,103

9,047

9,397

6,103

9,397

6,103

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Fees and commissions received
Payments to suppliers and employees
GST paid

Income tax paid
Miscellaneous receipts
Net cash flows from operating activities

20 (a)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and
equipment
Payments for intangibles, property, plant and
equipment
Net cash flows used in investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

CLOSING CASH CARRIED FORWARD
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Notes
30 June 2008

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
Service One Credit Union Ltd (the Credit Union) is a company
incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The Members are the owners of
the Credit Union.
The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Credit Union
are described in the Directors’ Report.
The registered office is at 75 Denison Street Deakin ACT.
The financial report of the Credit Union for the year ended 30th June
2008 was authorised for issuance with a resolution of the Board of
Directors on 15th August 2008.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
(a) Basis of Preparation
The general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance
with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting
Standards (AIFRS), the Corporations Act 2001, applicable accounting
standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements. The
financial report has also been prepared on a historical cost basis, except
for land and buildings, financial assets and financial liabilities, which
have been measured at fair value.

The balance sheet is presented on a liquidity basis. Assets and liabilities
are presented in decreasing order of liquidity and are not distinguished
between current and non-current. Additional information regarding this
is included in the relevant notes.
The financial report is presented in Australian Dollars and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000), unless otherwise
stated, under the option available to the Credit Union under ASIC class
order 98/100. The Credit Union is an entity to which this class order
applies.

(b) Statement of Compliance
The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards and
AIFRS.
The Credit Union has adopted AASB7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
and all consequential amendments which became applicable on 1st
January 2007. The adoption of this standard has only affected the
disclosure in the financial statements. There has been no effect on profit
and loss or the financial position of the Credit Union.

(c) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently
been issued or amended but are not yet effective have not been adopted
by the Credit Union for the annual reporting period ended 30 June
2008:

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with industry standard
and those of the previous year.

Application
date of
standard

Nature of change
to accounting
policy

Application
date of
standard /
interpretation

Reference

Title

Summary

AASB Int. 4
(Revised)

Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease

The revised interpretation specifically
scopes out arrangements that
fall within the scope of AASB
Interpretation 12.

1 January 2008

No change to
accounting policy
required. Therefore
no impact.

1 July 2008

AASB Int.13

Customer Loyalty Program

Deals with the accounting for
customer loyalty programs, which
are used by companies to provide
incentives to their customers to buy
their products or use their services.

1 July 2008

No change to
accounting policy
required. Therefore
no impact.

1 July 2008

AASB 1004
(Revised)

Contributions

This standard contains the original
requirements on contributions from
AASB 1004 as issued in July 2004,
as well as the requirements on
contributions from AASs 27, 29 and
31 substantively unamended (with
some exceptions).

1 July 2008

No change to
accounting policy
required. Therefore
no impact.

1 July 2008
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont)
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Application
date of
standard

Nature of change
to accounting
policy

Application
date of
standard /
interpretation

Reference

Title

Summary

AASB 8 and
AASB 2007-3

Operating Segments and
consequential amendments
to other Australian
Accounting Standards

New standard replacing AASB 114
Segment Reporting, which adopts a
management reporting approach to
segment reporting.

1 January 2009

No change to
accounting policy
required. Therefore
no impact.

1 July 2009

AASB 123
(Revised) and
AASB 2007-6

Borrowing Costs and
consequential amendments
to other Australian
Accounting Standards

The amendments to AASB 123
require that all borrowing costs
associated with a qualifying asset be
capitalised.

1 January 2009

No change to
accounting policy
required. Therefore
no impact.

1 July 2009

AASB 101
(Revised) and
AASB 2007-8

Presentation of Financial
Statements and consequential
amendments to other
Australian Accounting
Standards

Introduces a statement of
comprehensive income.

1 January 2009

No change to
accounting policy
required. Therefore
no impact.

1 July 2009

AASB 2008-2

Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards –
Puttable Financial Instruments
and Obligations arising on
Liquidation

The amendments provide a limited
exception to the definition of a
liability so as to allow an entity that
issues puttable financial instruments
with certain specified features, to
classify those instruments as equity
rather than financial liabilities.

1 January 2009

No change to
accounting policy
required. Therefore
no impact.

1 July 2009

AASB 3
(Revised)

Business Combinations

The revised standard introduces
a number of changes to
the accounting for business
combinations, the most significant
of which allows entities a choice for
each business combination entered
into – to measure a non-controlling
interest (formerly a minority
interest) in the acquiree either at
its fair value or at its proportionate
interest in the acquiree’s net assets.
This choice will effectively result
in recognising goodwill relating to
100% of the business (applying the
fair value option) or recognising
goodwill relating to the percentage
interest acquired. The changes apply
prospectively.

1 July 2009

No change to
accounting policy
required. Therefore
no impact.

1 July 2009

Other revisions include impacts on
the presentation of items in the
statement of changes in equity,
new presentation requirements for
restatements or reclassifications of
items in the financial statements,
changes in the presentation
requirements for dividends and
changes to the titles of the financial
statements.

Notes
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont)
Application
date of
standard

Nature of change
to accounting
policy

Application
date of
standard /
interpretation

Reference

Title

Summary

AASB 127
(Revised)

Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements

Under the revised standard, a
change in the ownership interest of
a subsidiary (that does not result in
loss of control) will be accounted for
as an equity transaction.

1 July 2009

No change to
accounting policy
required. Therefore
no impact.

1 July 2009

AASB 2008-3

Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards arising
from AASB 3 and AASB 127

Amending standard issued as a
consequence of revisions to AASB 3
and AASB 127.

1 July 2009

No change to
accounting policy
required. Therefore
no impact.

1 July 2009

Amendments
to
International
Financial
Reporting
Standards

Cost of an Investment in a
Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled
Entity or Associate

The main amendments of relevance
to Australian entities are those
made to IAS 27 deleting the
‘cost method’ and requiring all
dividends from a subsidiary, jointly
controlled entity or associate to be
recognised in profit or loss in an
entity’s separate financial statements
(i.e. parent company accounts).
The distinction between pre- and
post-acquisition profits is no longer
required. However, the payment of
such dividends requires the entity
to consider whether there is an
indicator of impairment.

1 January 2009

No change to
accounting policy
required. Therefore
no impact.

1 July 2009

1 January 2009
except for
amendments to
IFRS 5, which
are effective
from 1 July
2009.

No change to
accounting policy
required. Therefore
no impact.

1 July 2009

AASB 127 has also been amended
to effectively allow the cost of an
investment in a subsidiary, in limited
reorganisations, to be based on the
previous carrying amount of the
subsidiary (that is, share of equity)
rather than its fair value.
Amendments
to
International
Financial
Reporting
Standards

Improvements to IFRS

The improvements project is an
annual project that provides a
mechanism for making non-urgent,
but necessary, amendments to
IFRS. The IASB has separated the
amendments into two parts: Part
I deals with changes the IASB
identified resulting in accounting
changes; Part II deals with
either terminology or editorial
amendments that the IASB believes
will have minimal impact.
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(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Depreciation

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank
and in hand. For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents consists of cash on hand and in banks, and money
market investments readily convertible to cash within 2 working days,
net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and
equipment, other than leasehold land.

(e) Receivables Due From Other Financial Institutions
Receivables due from other financial institutions consist of short term
deposits and are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method.
Interest is accrued on a monthly basis and recognised when earned.

(f) Loans and Advances
Loans and advances are financial assets with fixed and determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. These assets,
including loans to key management personnel, are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees and costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate.
The loan interest is calculated on the daily balance outstanding and is
charged in arrears to a Member’s account monthly.

(g) Derivative Financial Instruments
The Credit Union enters into interest rate swap contracts for managing
interest rate risk and not for speculative purposes. The derivative
instruments are designated as fair value hedges and are taken to reduce
net maturity gaps between assets and liabilities in the balance sheet. See
Note 30 (d) for derivative financial instrument disclosures.
Interest rate swap contracts are recognised at fair value in the balance
sheet. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement as part
of net interest income. Interest rate swap contracts are recognised as
an asset when their value is positive and as a liability when their value is
negative.

(h) Property, Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment is stated at cost less, where applicable,
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Where lease agreements include a requirement to restore the site to its
original condition, an estimate of those costs is included in leasehold
improvements and depreciated over the lease term.
Land and Buildings are subsequently measured at fair value less
accumulated depreciation on buildings and any accumulated impairment
losses.
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Major depreciation periods are:
2008

2007

•

Freehold buildings                    

N/A

40 years

•

Leasehold improvements         

the lease term

the lease term

•

Plant, equipment and
computer system

3 to 15 years

3 to 15 years

Revaluations
Following initial recognition at cost, land and buildings are carried at a
revalued amount which is the fair value at the date of the revaluation
less any subsequent accumulated depreciation on buildings and any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
Fair value is determined by reference to market based evidence, which
is the amount for which the assets could be exchanged between a
knowledgeable willing buyer and a knowledgeable willing seller in an
arm’s length transaction as at the valuation date.
Any revaluation increment is credited to the asset revaluation reserve
included in the equity section of the balance sheet, except to the extent
that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously
recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase is recognised in
profit or loss.
Any revaluation decrease is recognised in profit or loss, except that a
decrease offsetting a previous revaluation increase for the same asset
is debited directly to the asset revaluation reserve to the extent of the
credit balance in the revaluation reserve for that asset.
Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset
being sold is transferred to general reserves.
Independent valuations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure
that the carrying amounts do not differ materially from the assets’ fair
value at the balance sheet date.

Impairment
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for
impairment at each reporting date, with the recoverable amount being
estimated when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The recoverable amount of property,
plant and equipment is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.

Notes
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont)

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows,
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs, unless the asset’s value in use can be estimated
to be close to its fair value. Impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable
amount. The asset or cash-generating unit is then written down to its
recoverable amount.
For plant and equipment, impairment losses are recognised in the
income statement.

(k) Employee Benefits

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and following initial
recognition, at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets include the value of
computer software.
Intangible assets are amortised over their useful life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible assets
may be impaired.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is
reviewed at least at each financial year end. Changes in the expected
useful life or expected pattern of consumption of future economic
benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the
amortisation period or method, as appropriate, which is a change in
accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangibles with
finite useful lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense category
consistent with the function of the intangible asset.
All recognised intangible assets have been assessed as having a finite
useful life and the major amortisation periods are:

Computer software                    

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the
income statement over the period of the loan and borrowings using the
effective interest rate method.
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

(i) Intangible Assets

•

Borrowings

2008

2007

3 to 15 years

3 to 15 years

(j) Deposits and Borrowings
Deposits
All Member deposits are initially recognised at the fair value of the
amount received. After initial recognition, deposits are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Wages, Salaries, Annual Leave and Sick Leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits,
annual leave and accumulated sick leave expected to be settled within
12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables
in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date. They are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are
settled. Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when
the leave is taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable.

Long Service Leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for
employee benefits and measured at the present value of expected future
payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up
to the reporting date using a probability based assessment method.
Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels,
experience of employee departures, and period of service. Expected
future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting
date on bank bill swap rates with terms to maturity that match, as
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Superannuation
Contributions are made by the Credit Union to an employee’s
superannuation fund and are charged to the income statement as
incurred.

(l) Trade and Other Payables
Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised cost and
represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Credit Union
prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the
Credit Union becomes obligated to make future payments in respect of
the purchase of these goods and services. Trade liabilities are normally
settled on 30 day terms.

Interest is calculated on the daily balance and posted to the accounts
periodically, or on maturity of the term deposit. Interest on savings is
brought to account on an accrual basis. The amount of the accrual is
shown as part of trade and other payables.
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(m) Provisions

(p) Operating Leases

Provisions are recognised when the Credit Union has a present
obligation (legal, equitable or constructive) as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is
based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an assessment
of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use
of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use
the asset.

When the Credit Union expects some or all of a provision to
be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision
is presented in the income statement net of any reimbursement.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income
statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Operating lease
incentives are recognised as a liability when received and subsequently
reduced by allocating lease payments between rental expense and
reduction of the liability.

If the effect of time value of money is material, provisions are discounted
using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability.

(q) Taxes

When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the
passage of time is recognised as a borrowing cost.

(n) Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue can be reliably
measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met
before revenue is recognised:

Fees and Commissions
Loan fees are brought to account as income in the year of receipt. No
loan fees were in excess of costs.
Fee and commission income is recognised as revenue on an accrual
basis.

Interest
For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost, interest income
or expense is recorded in the income statement at the effective rate,
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset or financial liability.

Dividend Income
Dividend income is recorded in non-interest income when the Credit
Union’s right to receive the payment is established.

(o) Comparative Figures
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform
with changes presented in these financial statements.

Income Taxes
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to
the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). The tax rates and tax laws used
to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.
Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the
balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses, to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised.
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each
balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at tax rates
that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or subsequently enacted at the balance date.
Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are
recognised in equity and not in profit or loss.
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Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same
taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST
except:
•

•

where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not
recoverable from the ATO, in which case the GST is recognised as
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense
item as applicable, and
receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST
included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is
included as part of receivables or payables in the balance sheet.
Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross
basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing and
financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO,
are classified as operating cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO.

(r) Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements are those of the consolidated
entity, comprising the Credit Union and all entities that the Credit Union
controlled from time to time during the year and at balance date.
Information from the financial statements of subsidiaries is included
from the date the parent company obtains control until such time
as control ceases. Where there is loss of control of a subsidiary, the
consolidated financial statements include the results for the part of the
reporting period during which the parent company has control.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting
policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.
All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised profits
arising from intra-group transactions, have been eliminated in full.

(s) Investments
Financial assets are classified as either financial assets at fair value
through the profit and loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity
investments, or available for sale investments, as appropriate. The
Credit Union determines the classification of financial assets after initial
recognition and, when appropriate, re-evaluates the classification at the
end of each year.
All investments have been classified as available-for-sale investments as
at the end of the year.
Available for sale investments are those non-derivative financial assets
that are designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as financial
assets at fair value, as a loan or receivable or as a held-to-maturity
investment. After initial recognition available-for-sale investments
are measured at fair value with gains or losses being recognised as a
separate component of equity until the investment is derecognised or
until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is recognised in
profit or loss.
The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised
financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market bid prices
at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For investments
with no active market, fair value is determined using valuation
techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s length market
transactions, reference to current market value of another instrument
that is substantially the same and discounted cash flow analysis. For
investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured, they are measured at cost.

(t) Nature and Purpose of Members’ Funds
General Reserve
Any unappropriated profit from the Credit Union’s operations is
transferred to the General Reserve. The General Reserve contains
amounts of retained profits that have been set aside by the Directors for
the purpose of funding future operations of the Credit Union.

Asset Revaluation Reserve
Any revaluation increments or decrements of non-current assets are
recorded in the Asset Revaluation Reserve.

Capital Redemption Account
Under the Corporations Act 2001 redeemable preference shares
(Member shares) may only be redeemed out of profits or from a new
share issue for the purposes of redemption. The Capital Redemption
Account represents the shares redeemed by Members. Member shares
for existing and new Members of the Credit Union are shown as
liabilities.
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General Reserve for Credit Losses
The general reserve for credit losses is based on 0.5% of those Risk
Weighted Assets for which a specific provision has not already been
raised. Risk Weighted Assets are calculated using the formula of APRA’s
Prudential Standards.

(u) Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates, and
Assumptions
In the process of applying the Credit Union’s accounting policies,
management has used its judgement and made estimates in
determining the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The
most significant use of judgements and estimates are as follows:

Classification of and Valuation of Investments
The Credit Union has decided to classify investments in unlisted
securities as available-for-sale investments and movements in fair value
are recognised directly in equity. The fair values of unlisted securities not
traded in an active market are recorded at historical cost.

Recovery of Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences
as management considers that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available to utilise those temporary differences.

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
The Credit Union assesses impairment of all assets at each reporting
date by evaluating conditions specific to the Credit Union and to the
particular asset that may lead to impairment. These include product
performance, technology, economic and political environments and
future product expectations. If an impairment trigger exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is determined. This involves value in
use calculations, which incorporate a number of key estimates and
assumptions.

Long Service Leave Provision
Liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at the present
value of the estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of all
employees at balance date. In determining the present value of the
liability, attrition rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation
have been taken into account.

Estimation of Useful Lives of Assets
The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based on
historical experience as well as manufacturers’ warranties (for plant
and equipment), lease terms (for leased equipment). In addition, the
condition of the assets is assessed at least once per year and considered
against the remaining useful life. Adjustments to useful life are made
when considered necessary.
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Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including reasonable
expectations of future events. Management believes the estimates used
in preparing the financial report are reasonable. Actual results in the
future may differ from those reported.

Impairment of Loans and Advances
The Credit Union reviews its problem loans at each reporting date to
assess whether an allowance for impairment should be recorded in the
income statement. In particular, judgement by management is required
in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when
determining the level of allowance required. Such estimates are based
on assumptions about a number of factors and actual results may differ,
resulting in future changes to the allowance.
In addition to specific allowances against individually significant loans
and advances, the Credit Union also makes a collective impairment
allowance against exposures, which, although not specifically identified
as requiring a specific allowance, have a greater risk of default than
when originally granted. This takes into consideration factors such as
any deterioration in industry, technological obsolescence, as well as
identified structural weaknesses or deterioration in cash flows.

Asset Revaluations
Any property revaluation increment is credited to the asset revaluation
reserve included in the equity section of the balance sheet, except to
the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset
previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase is
recognised in profit or loss. Any revaluation decrease is recognised in
profit or loss, except to the extent that it offsets a previous revaluation
increase for the same asset, in which case the decrease is debited
directly to the asset revaluation reserve to the extent of the credit
balance existing in the revaluation reserve for that asset.

Make Good Provisions
A provision has been made for the present value of anticipated costs
of future restoration of leased Branch premises. The provision includes
future cost estimates associated with dismantling furniture and fittings.
The calculation of this provision requires assumptions which may result
in future actual expenditure differing from the amounts currently
provided. The provision recognised for each Branch is periodically
reviewed and updated based on the facts and circumstances available
at the time. Changes to the estimated future costs for Branches are
recognised in the balance sheet by adjusting both the expense or asset
(if applicable) and provision.

Notes
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont)
(v) Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities
A financial asset is derecognised where:
•

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or

•

the Credit Union has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party unless under a
‘pass-through’ arrangement, and

•

either (a) the Credit Union has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Credit Union has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Credit Union has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised
to the extent of the Credit Union’s continuing involvement in the asset.
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Credit Union could be required to repay.

If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account.
Bad debts are written off when identified. Identification may include:
bankruptcy, clearout or unlikelihood of recovery. If a provision for
impairment has been recognised in relation to a loan, write offs for bad
debts are made against the provision. If no provision for impairment has
previously been recognised, write offs for bad debts are recognised as
expenses in the income statement.

(x) Renegotiated Loans and Advances
Where possible, the Credit Union seeks to restructure loans rather than
to take possession of collateral. This may involve extending the payment
arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once the
terms have been renegotiated, the loan is no longer considered past
due. Management continuously reviews renegotiated loans to ensure
that all criteria are met and that future payments are likely to occur. The
loans continue to be subject to an individual or collective impairment
assessment, calculated using the loan’s original effective interest rate.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial
liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability, and the difference in the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

(w) Impairment of Loans and Advances
The Credit Union assesses at each balance date whether there is any
objective evidence that a loan and advance to a Member, or a group
of loans and advances, is impaired. A loan and advance, or a group
of loans and advances, is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events
that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred
‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the loans and advances or group of
loans and advances that can be reliably estimated. Objective evidence
of impairment may include indications that the borrower, or a group
of borrowers is experiencing financial difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where observable data
indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate
with defaults.
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3. INTEREST REVENUE AND INTEREST EXPENSE
The following tables show the average balance for each of the major categories of interest-bearing assets and liabilities, the amount of interest
revenue or expense and the average interest rate. Most averages are month-end averages.

30 June 2008

Notes

Consolidated
Average Balance

Interest

Average
Interest Rate

$’000

$’000

%

8,557

297

3.47

38,420

2,425

6.31

Interest revenue 2007
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables due from other financial institutions
Loans and advances

180,433

14,121

7.83

227,410

16,843

7.41

214,162

7,065

3.30

Interest expense 2007
Member deposits
Borrowings

597

29

4.86

214,759

7,094

3.30

Net interest income 2007

9,749

Interest revenue 2008
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables due from other financial institutions
Loans and advances

8,494

295

3.47

30,695

2,131

6.94

203,298

16,687

8.21

242,487

19,113

7.88

224,334

8,370

3.73

613

36

5.87

224,947

8,406

3.74

Interest expense 2008
Member deposits
Borrowings

Change in fair value of interest rate swaps

(94)
8,312

Net interest income 2008
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4. other operating income and EXPENSEs
30 June 2008

Notes

Consolidated

Service One Credit Union Ltd

2008

2007

2008

2007

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

425

499

425

499

3,265

3,278

3,265

3,278

264

431

264

431

Fees and commissions income
Loan fee income
Other fee income
Insurance commissions

221

251

221

251

4,175

4,459

4,175

4,459

68

155

68

155

137

144

137

144

205

299

205

299

1,068

9

1,068

9

1,068

9

1,068

9

5,448

4,767

5,448

4,767

Plant and equipment

366

323

366

323

Leasehold improvements

456

254

456

254

-

42

-

42

368

336

368

336

1,190

955

1,190

955

4,597

4,383

4,597

4,383

Insurance, compliance and legal

366

435

366

435

Occupancy

301

266

301

266

Marketing

647

558

647

558

Printing, stationery and production

117

194

117

194

Cash delivery charges

396

391

396

391

Communications

278

308

278

308

Maintenance and support

449

445

449

445

2,017

2,140

2,017

2,140

1,498

1,263

1,498

1,263

10,666

10,383

10,666

10,383

1,123

739

1,123

739

341

332

341

332

13,320

12,409

13,320

12,409

Other commissions

Other operating revenue
Bad debts recovered
Other

Other operating income
Net gain from sale of plant and equipment

Other operating income

Other expenses
Depreciation

Building
Computer system

General and administration costs
Personnel

Members’ transaction related costs
	Other

Rental - operating leases

Other provisions
Provision for employee benefits
Other expenses
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5. INCOME TAX
The major components of income tax are:

30 June 2008

Notes

Consolidated

Service One Credit Union Ltd

2008

2007

2008

2007

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

828

532

828

532

2

(25)

2

(25)

(137)

55

(137)

55

693

562

693

562

Income statement
Current income tax
Current income tax charge
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of
previous years

Deferred income tax
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary
differences
Income tax expense reported in the income statement

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit before tax multiplied by the applicable tax rate is as follows:
Accounting profit before income tax

Income tax at 30%
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of
previous years
Rebatable dividend payments
Other non-deductible expenses
Income tax reported in the income statement

2,837

1,983

2,837

1,983

851

595

851

595

2

(25)

2

(25)

(47)

(34)

(47)

(34)

(113)

26

(113)

26

693

562

693

562

118

159

118

159

26

-

26

-

-

172

-

172

Deferred income tax
Deferred tax liabilities
Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes
Swaps at fair value
Revaluation of building to fair value

15

15

15

15

159

346

159

346

138

141

138

141

Provision for doubtful debts

15

12

15

12

Other provisions

60

26

60

26

Accelerated depreciation on building for
accounting purposes

-

73

-

73

Accrued expenses

9

19

9

19

222

271

222

271

Other receivables

Deferred tax assets
Employee provisions
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6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
30 June 2008

Notes

Consolidated

Service One Credit Union Ltd

2008

2007

2008

2007

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Cash on hand and at banks

3,739

3,468

3,739

3,468

Deposits at call

5,805

3,300

5,805

3,300

9,544

6,768

9,544

6,768

Cash at bank and deposits at call earn interest at floating rates on a daily basis. These deposits are available within a maximum of two working days.

7. RECEIVABLES DUE FROM OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
Interest bearing deposits with CUSCAL Ltd (CUSCAL)
Bank accepted bills of exchange
Other Credit Union receivables
30 (a)

36,765

23,899

36,765

23,899

1,015

983

1,015

983

2

-

2

-

37,782

24,882

37,782

24,882

29,166

22,899

29,166

22,899

8,616

1,983

8,616

1,983

37,782

24,882

37,782

24,882

916

835

916

835

18,650

20,059

18,650

20,059

129,164

111,782

129,164

111,782

65,017

61,735

65,017

61,735

(50)

(41)

(50)

(41)

212,781

193,535

212,781

193,535

18,650

20,059

18,650

20,059

2,976

3,108

2,976

3,108

Maturity analysis
Not longer than 3 months
Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months

8. ACCRUED RECEIVABLES
Interest receivable

30 (a)

9. LOANS AND ADVANCES
Overdrafts
Mortgage loans
Other
Provision for impairment
Net loans and advances

9 (c)

(a) Maturity analysis
Overdrafts
Not longer than 3 months

9,662

9,250

9,662

9,250

35,722

35,394

35,722

35,394

Longer than 5 years

145,771

125,724

145,771

125,724

Net loans and advances

212,781

193,535

212,781

193,535

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months
Longer than 1 and not longer than 5 years
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9. LOANS AND ADVANCES (Cont)
(b) Concentration of Risk
The loan portfolio of the Credit Union does not include any loan that represents 10% or more of capital.
There are no loans to Members concentrated to individuals employed in a particular industry.
Loans to Members are concentrated solely in Australia and principally in the Australian Capital Territory and Southern NSW.

30 June 2008

Notes

Consolidated

Service One Credit Union Ltd

2008

2007

2008

2007

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Overdrafts

27

32

27

32

Other loans

14

9

14

9

41

41

41

41

Overdrafts

(52)

(32)

(52)

(32)

Other loans

(19)

(28)

(19)

(28)

(71)

(60)

(71)

(60)

80

60

80

60

50

41

50

41

Overdrafts

24

27

24

27

Other loans

26

14

26

14

Total closing balance

50

41

50

41

Specific provision

80

60

80

60

Items not specifically provided for and charged directly
to the expense account

12

64

12

64

Total impairment losses on loans and advances

92

124

92

124

(c) Provision for impairment
Specific provision
Opening balance

Total opening balance
 ad debts previously provided for written off during
B
the year

Total bad debts previously provided for written off
during the year
Bad and doubtful debts provided for during the year
for overdrafts and other loans

Closing balance

Charge to income statement for impairment losses on
loans and advances comprises:

The specific provision for impairment includes the provision required under the prudential standards at 30 June 2008, and a provision for
specifically identified individual loans.
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10. IMPAIRMENT OF LOANS AND ADVANCES
The policy covering impaired loans and advances is set out in Note 2.

30 June 2008

Notes

Consolidated

Service One Credit Union Ltd

2008

2007

2008

2007

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

85

81

85

81

(50)

(41)

(50)

(41)

35

40

35

40

Impaired loans with specific provision for
impairment
Balances with specific provisions for impairment
Specific provision for impairment
Net impaired loans with specific provision for
impairment

Impaired loans without specific provision
for impairment
72

75

72

75

107

115

107

115

85

-

85

-

85

-

85

-

Shares in Transaction Solutions Pty Ltd – at cost

410

410

410

410

Shares in CUSCAL – at cost

Balance without specific provision for impairment
Net impaired loans

11. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Interest rate swaps – at fair value

12. AVAILABLE FOR SALE INVESTMENTS
884

884

884

884

Shares in Veda Advantage Information Services and
Solutions Ltd – at fair value

-

21

-

21

Shares in Credit Union Technology Development Ltd
– at cost

2

2

2

2

126

125

-

-

74

74

-

-

1,496

1,516

1,296

1,317

Investment in Australian Capital Fund Pty Ltd
– at cost
Investment in ACV Investment Trust Number 1
– at cost
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12. AVAILABLE FOR SALE INVESTMENTS (CONT)
(a) Unlisted shares
No active market exists for equity investments in Transaction Solutions Pty Ltd, CUSCAL, and Credit Union Technology Development Ltd. Their fair
value cannot be reliably measured, as a result these investments are measured at cost.
The financial reports of the above entities record net tangible asset backing of these shares exceeding their cost value. Based on the net assets of
the entities, any fair value determination of these shares is likely to be greater than the cost value, but due to the absence of a ready market and
restrictions on the ability to transfer the shares, a market value is not able to be determined.
The Credit Union is not intending, nor able to dispose of these shares without a majority of shareholder approval.

(b) Other available for sale investments
No active market exists for investments in Australian Capital Fund Pty Ltd or ACV Investment Trust Number 1 and so their fair value cannot be
reliably measured. As a result, these investments are measured at cost.

Investment in controlled entity
Investment in controlled entity comprises:

Name

CUC No 1 Pty Ltd
– ordinary shares
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Country of
incorporation

Percentage of equity interest
held by the economic entity
2008

2007

2008

2007

%

%

$

$

100

100

2

2

Australia
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
30 June 2008

Notes

Consolidated

Service One Credit Union Ltd

2008

2007

2008

2007

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

-

290

-

290

At fair value

-

3,554

-

3,554

Provision for depreciation

-

(105)

-

(105)

-

3,449

-

3,449

-

3,739

-

3,739

2,326

1,815

2,326

1,815

Provision for depreciation

(1,246)

(1,098)

(1,246)

(1,098)

Total leasehold improvements

1,080

717

1,080

717

Leasehold land
At fair value

Building on leasehold land

Total leasehold land and buildings

Leasehold improvements
At cost

Plant and equipment
2,497

4,363

2,497

4,363

(1,572)

(3,523)

(1,572)

(3,523)

925

840

925

840

2,005

5,296

2,005

5,296

3,739

2,091

3,739

2,091

156

1,690

156

1,690

(673)

-

(673)

-

(3,222)

-

(3,222)

-

-

(42)

-

(42)

-

3,739

-

3,739

Carrying amount at beginning of year

717

655

717

655

Additions

146

316

146

316

Transfer from leasehold land and buildings

673

-

673

-

(456)

(254)

(456)

(254)

1,080

717

1,080

717

At cost
Provision for depreciation
Total plant and equipment
Total written down value

Reconciliation of carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment for the
financial year.
Leasehold land and buildings
Carrying amount at beginning of year
Additions
Transfer to leasehold improvements
Disposals
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

Leasehold improvements

Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT)
30 June 2008

Notes

Consolidated

Service One Credit Union Ltd

2008

2007

2008

2007

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Carrying amount at beginning of year

840

846

840

846

Additions

521

331

521

331

Plant and equipment

Transfer from leasehold land and buildings
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

(70)

(14)

(70)

(14)

(366)

(323)

(366)

(323)

925

840

925

840

Property, plant and equipment are subject to:
a) fixed and floating charge to secure credit facilities provided by CUSCAL
b) a floating charge executed under the Emergency Liquidity Support Scheme to secure an advance that may be made to the Credit Union under
the scheme.

14. INTANGIBLES
2,065

1,859

2,065

1,859

(1,369)

(1,234)

(1,369)

(1,234)

696

625

696

625

Carrying amount at beginning of year

625

524

625

524

Additions

439

437

439

437

(368)

(336)

(368)

(336)

696

625

696

625

Prepayments

290

316

290

316

Other

257

640

257

640

547

956

547

956

4

56

4

56

Computer software at cost
Provision for amortisation
Total written down value

Reconciliation of carrying amount of
intangibles for the financial year.

Amortisation
Carrying amount at end of year

15. OTHER ASSETS

16. PAYABLE TO OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
Other Credit Union payables
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17. DEPOSITS AND BORROWINGS
30 June 2008

Notes

Consolidated
2008

Service One Credit Union Ltd
2007

2008

2007

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Call deposits

120,500

121,987

120,500

121,988

Term deposits

120,322

89,758

120,322

89,758

240,822

211,745

240,822

211,746

147

665

147

665

240,969

212,410

240,969

212,411

120,500

121,987

120,500

121,988

Not longer than 3 months

61,447

46,564

61,447

46,564

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months

54,808

38,085

54,808

38,085

30 (a)
Borrowings

(a) Deposits
Maturity analysis
At call

Longer than 1 and not longer than 5 years

4,067

5,109

4,067

5,109

240,822

211,745

240,822

211,746

Included in call deposits above is an amount of $309,448 (2007: $311,166) representing Member shares. These shares are withdrawable by
Members on resignation from the Credit Union.

Concentration of deposits
The Credit Union’s deposit portfolio does not include any deposit that represents 10% or more of total liabilities.
Member deposits were predominantly received from individuals employed in Australia. There are no significant groups of Members concentrated in
any particular industry.

(b) Borrowings
Unsecured
Bank overdrafts - other financial institution
Total borrowings

147

665

147

665

147

665

147

665

147

665

147

665

147

665

147

665

Credit facilities provided by CUSCAL are secured by
a fixed and floating charge over all of the assets and
undertakings of the Credit Union.

Maturity analysis
Not longer than 3 months
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18. PAYABLES
30 June 2008

Trade creditors
Accrued interest payable
Other creditors

Notes

30 (a)

Consolidated

Service One Credit Union Ltd

2008

2007

2008

2007

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

298

393

298

393

2,308

1,760

2,308

1,760

380

330

380

330

2,986

2,483

2,986

2,483

Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

19. PROVISIONS
Employee benefits
Annual leave

283

267

283

267

Long service leave

177

204

177

204

460

471

460

471

9

1

9

1

Make good on leased premises

198

100

198

100

Income tax

540

212

540

212

1,207

784

1,207

784

1

7

1

7

55

29

55

29

(47)

(35)

(47)

(35)

9

1

9

1

100

99

100

99

Arising during the year

96

15

96

15

Unused amounts reversed

(5)

(18)

(5)

(18)

Fringe benefits tax

Provision for fringe benefits tax
Carrying amount at beginning of year
Arising during the year
Utilised
Carrying amount at end of year

Provision for make good
Carrying amount at beginning of year

Discount rate adjustments
Carrying amount at end of year

7

4

7

4

198

100

198

100

In accordance with Branch and ATM lease agreements the Credit Union must restore the leased premises to its original condition before the expiry
of the lease term.
During the year, $5,000 was reversed for costs that were not incurred on the renewal of Branch leases and $96,175 was recognised in respect of
the new leases.
Because of the long-term nature of the liability, the uncertainty in estimating the provision is the costs that will ultimately be incurred, the provision
has been discounted using bank bill swap rates that match as closely as possible the remaining term of each lease agreement.
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20. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
30 June 2008

Notes

Consolidated

Service One Credit Union Ltd

2008

2007

2008

2007

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

2,144

1,421

2,144

1,421

92

124

92

124

1,190

955

1,190

955

(1,068)

(9)

(1,068)

(9)

Interest receivable

(81)

267

(81)

267

Other receivables

409

(207)

409

(207)

Provisions

285

125

285

125

Other assets and liabilities

366

466

366

466

3,337

3,142

3,337

3,142

Cash

3,739

3,468

3,739

3,468

Other short-term liquid assets

5,805

3,300

5,805

3,300

(a) Reconciliation of the operating profit
after tax to the net cash flows from
operations
Profit from ordinary activities after tax
Charge for bad and doubtful debts
Depreciation and amortisation
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of plant and equipment

Changes in assets and liabilities

Net cash flows from operating activities

(b) Reconciliation of cash
Cash balance comprises:

Bank overdraft
Closing cash balance

(147)

(665)

(147)

(665)

9,397

6,103

9,397

6,103

(c) Cash flows presented on a net basis
Cash flows arising from the following activities are presented on a net basis in the Statement of Cash Flows:
(i) M
 ember deposits to and withdrawals from deposit accounts
(ii) borrowings and repayments on loans to Members, and
(iii) sales and purchases of investments.

(d) Bank overdraft and loan facilities
The Credit Union has an overdraft facility available to the extent of $4,000,000 and pre-approved loan facility of $6,000,000. Both credit
facilities are provided by CUSCAL and are secured by a fixed and floating charge over the assets and undertakings of the Credit Union. At
balance date, both the bank overdraft and the pre-approved loan facility were unused.
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21. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS
30 June 2008

Notes

Consolidated

Service One Credit Union Ltd

2008

2007

2008

2007

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

901

700

901

700

later than 1 and not later than 5 years

1,983

1,002

1,983

1,002

later than 5 years

1,609

-

1,609

-

4,493

1,702

4,493

1,702

Lease expenditure commitments
Operating leases (non-cancellable)
not later than 1 year

Aggregate lease expenditure contracted for at balance
date

Non-cancellable operating leases are for Branch and Head Office premises with lease terms for up to 10 years. The leases have an average
increment of 3% and options for renewal range from 1 to 10 years.

22. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS
Employee benefits
The aggregate employee benefits liability is
comprised of:
Accrued wages, salaries and on costs
(recognised as part of other creditors at Note 18)
Provisions for long service and annual leave

19

107

145

107

145

460

471

460

471

Superannuation commitments
All employees are entitled to varying levels of benefits on retirement, disability or death. Employees contribute to the plans at various percentages
of their wages and salaries. The Credit Union also contributes to the plans, at the rates between 9% and 13.5% of employees’ salaries.
Contributions by the economic entity of up to 9% of employees’ wages and salaries are legally enforceable in Australia.

Number of employees
The number of full-time equivalent employees at the end of the year was 74 (2007:74).
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23. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CREDIT COMMITMENTS
Credit related commitments
Binding commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to Members as long as there is no violation of any condition established in the
contract. Since some of the commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily
represent future cash requirements.

30 June 2008

Credit limits undrawn
Approved but undrawn loans

Notes

Consolidated

Service One Credit Union Ltd

2008

2007

2008

2007

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

14,233

14,401

14,233

14,401

1,463

428

1,463

428

15,696

14,829

15,696

14,829

The Credit Union has issued a floating charge over all assets of the Credit Union. This has been executed under the Emergency Liquidity Support
Scheme to secure any advances that may be made to the Credit Union under the Scheme.
As at 30th June 2008 there were no contingent liabilities.

24. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There has been no transaction or event of a material or unusual nature likely to affect the operation of the Credit Union, the results of those
operations or the state of affairs of the Credit Union.
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25. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
(a) Details of key management personnel
The Directors of the Credit Union during the year were:
Mr E M Adriaanse
Mr J C Clarke (Chair)
Professor J Corbett
Mr I Davis
Mrs J Krueger (resigned 25th January 2008)
Mr W C Phillips
Mrs D Robinson,
Mr C Smeal.
The Executives of the Credit Union during the year were:
Mr P L Carlin Chief Executive, and
Mr M D Smith Chief Finance Officer.
See Note 25 (c) for disclosure on loans to key management personnel.

30 June 2008

Notes

Consolidated

Service One Credit Union Ltd

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

499,400

503,361

499,400

503,361

45,229

41,478

45,229

41,478

544,629

544,839

544,629

544,839

(b) Key management personnel
compensation
Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

(c) Loans to key management personnel
Loans have been made to key management personnel and spouses on terms and conditions no more favourable than those available on similar
transactions to Members of the Credit Union.
The terms and conditions in respect of all loans to key management personnel have not been breached.

920,075

836,508

920,075

836,508

67,761

17,960

67,761

17,960

Aggregate amount of approved overdraft facilities

36,500

24,500

36,500

24,500

Aggregate amount drawn against overdraft facilities

10,036

4,582

10,036

4,582

Aggregate amount outstanding at balance date
Aggregate amount of repayments received during the
financial year
Key management personnel concerned:
Mr W Phillips, Mr C Smeal.

Key management personnel concerned:
Mr J Clarke and Mr P Carlin.
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26. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
30 June 2008

Notes

Consolidated

Service One Credit Union Ltd

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

70,650

69,000

70,650

69,000

12,845

7,450

12,845

7,450

83,495

76,450

83,495

76,450

Amounts received or due and receivable by Ernst & Young for:
an audit of the financial statements of the entity
and any other entity in the consolidated entity
		

– current year

tax services in relation to the entity and any
other entity in the consolidated entity

27. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY
The Credit Union has an economic dependency on:
CUSCAL supplies the Credit Union rights to Visa Card in Australia and provides services in the form of settlement with bankers for ATM and Visa Card
transactions, and the production of Visa and Redicards for its Members. It also provides treasury and money market facilities to the Credit Union.
First Data Corporation Ltd operates the switching computer used to link Redicards operated through Reditellers and other ATM suppliers to the
Credit Union’s computer system.
Transaction Solutions Pty Ltd operates the computer facility on behalf of the Credit Union in conjunction with other Credit Unions.
FiServ Solutions Australia Pty Ltd provides core-banking software to the Credit Union for the processing of all Member accounts and related
activities.

28. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
See Note 25 (c) for disclosure on loans to Directors.

Shareholding
Each Director holds one $10 redeemable preference share in the Credit Union.

29. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The economic entity operates predominantly in one business and geographical segment being the finance industry within Australia. The operations
comprise the acceptance of deposits and the provision of loans.
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-

-

136,233

-

-

139,533

-

-

130,655

-

-

136,460

Due from
other financial
institutions

Accrued
receivables

Loans and
advances

Other financial
assets

Available for sale
investments
16,828

-

-

90

-

16,738

-

$’000

2008

8,226

-

-

1,226

-

7,000

-

$’000

2007

1 month or less

17,840

-

-

5,412

-

12,428

-

$’000

2008

18,171

-

-

2,272

-

15,899

-

$’000

2007

1 month to
3 months

32,302

-

3

23,683

-

8,616

-

$’000

2008

20,303

-

-

18,320

-

1,983

-

$’000

2007

3 months to
12 months

Fixed interest rate maturing in:

53,023

-

82

52,941

-

-

-

$’000

2008

35,484

-

-

35,484

-

-

-

$’000

2007

1 year to 5 years

Exposure to interest risks and the effective interest rates are the same for both the consolidated entity and for the Credit Union.

N/A – not applicable for non-interest bearing financial instruments.

Total financial
assets

3,300

$’000

$’000

5,805

2007

2008

Floating
interest rate

Cash and cash
equivalents

assets

(i) Financial

Financial
instruments

30 June 2008

6,151

1,496

-

-

916

3,739

$’000

2008

5,819

1,516

-

-

835

-

3,468

$’000

2007

Non-interest
bearing

262,604

1,496

85

212,781

916

37,782

9,544

$’000

2008

227,536

1,516

-

193,535

835

24,882

6,768

$’000

2007

Total carrying
amount
as per the
balance sheet

N/A

N/A

8.64

N/A

7.43

4.03

%

2008

N/A

N/A

7.95

N/A

6.33

2.98

%

2007

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

The Credit Union’s exposure to interest rate risks and the effective interest rates of financial assets and financial liabilities at the balance date, are as follows (see Note 30 (d) for
details of the Credit Union’s policy on interest rate risk):

(a) Interest rate risk

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

NOTES

63

-

-

-

-

Accrued interest
payable

Other creditors
15,466

-

-

-

15,466

-

$’000

2008

14,724

-

-

-

14,724

-

$’000

2007

1 month or less

45,981

-

-

-

45,981

-

$’000

2008

31,840

-

-

-

31,840

-

$’000

2007

1 month to
3 months

54,808

-

-

-

54,808

-

$’000

2008

38,085

-

-

-

38,085

-

$’000

2007

3 months to
12 months

Fixed interest rate maturing in:

4,067

4,067

-

$’000

2008

5,109

-

-

-

5,109

-

$’000

2007

1 year to 5 years

Exposure to interest risks and the effective interest rates are the same for both the consolidated entity and for the Credit Union.

N/A – not applicable for non-interest bearing financial instruments.

Total financial
liabilities

121,987

-

-

Trade creditors

120,500

121,987

Deposits

120,500

$’000

$’000

-

2007

2008

Floating
interest rate

-

Bank overdrafts
and borrowings

liabilities

(ii) Financial

Financial
instruments

30 June 2008

(a) Interest rate risk (continued)

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT)

NOTES

3,133

380

2,308

298

147

$’000

2008

3,148

330

1,760

393

-

665

$’000

2007

Non-interest
bearing

243,955

380

2,308

298

240,822

147

$’000

2008

214,893

330

1,760

393

211,745

665

$’000

2007

Total carrying
amount
as per the
balance sheet

N/A

N/A

N/A

4.49

N/A

%

2008

N/A

N/A

N/A

3.43

N/A

%

2007

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

Notes
30 June 2008

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont)
(b) Net fair values
All financial assets and liabilities have been recognised at balance date at their net fair value.
Carrying amount as per Balance Sheet

Net fair value

2008

2007

2008

2007

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

9,544

6,768

9,544

6,768

37,782

24,882

37,782

24,882

Accrued receivables

916

835

916

835

Loans and advances

212,781

193,535

212,781

193,535

(i) Financial assets
Cash and liquid assets
Due from other financial
institutions

Other financial assets
Available for sale investments
Total financial assets

85

-

85

-

1,496

1,516

N/A

N/A

262,604

227,536

N/A

N/A

(ii) Financial liabilities
Bank overdraft and borrowings
Deposits
Trade creditors
Accrued interest payables
Other creditors
Total financial liabilities

147

665

147

665

240,822

211,745

240,204

211,238

298

393

298

393

2,308

1,760

2,308

1,760

380

330

380

330

243,955

214,893

243,337

214,386

Exposure to interest risks and the effective interest rates are the same for both the consolidated entity and for the Credit Union.

The following methods and assumptions are used to determine the net fair values of financial assets and liabilities
Cash and liquid assets, and due from other financial institutions: The carrying amounts approximate fair value because of their short-term to
maturity or are receivable on demand.
Loan and advances: The fair values of loans receivable excluding impaired loans are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis, based on current
incremental lending rates for similar types of lending arrangements. The net fair value of impaired loans was calculated by discounting expected cash
flows using a rate which includes a premium for the uncertainty of the flows.
Available-for-sale investments: Available for sale investments are carried at cost, as their fair value cannot be reliably measured. Refer to Note 12.
Payables to other financial institutions: The carrying amount approximates fair value because of their short-term to maturity.
Deposits and borrowings: The carrying amount approximates fair value for on call deposits and borrowings because of their short-term to maturity.
For deposits that are long-term, the fair value is calculated by discounting the expected cash flows at prevailing interest rates.
Payables: This includes interest payable and accrued expenses payable for which the carrying amount is considered to be a reasonable estimate of
net fair value.
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30. financial instruments (CONT)
(c) Credit risk
The Credit Union’s maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date, to recognised financial
assets is the carrying amount, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements.
Concentrations of credit risk, where applicable, are identified in the notes to the relevant financial assets.
Credit risk in loans receivable is managed in the following ways:
•

a risk assessment process is used for all Members, and

•

where a loan to value ratio exceeds policy limits on mortgage secured loans, mortgage guarantee insurance is taken.

Collateral
The type and value of collateral required is dependent on the Credit Union’s internal policy limits and an assessment of the credit risk of the Member.
The Credit Union’s policy stipulates acceptable types of collateral and the valuation requirements for each.
The main types of collateral used are mortgages over real estate and bills of sale over motor vehicles.
Collateral taken as part of a collection process on impaired loans are disposed using independent auction process with proceeds used to reduce or
repay the outstanding loan. The Credit Union does not use repossessed collateral for its own business use.

Analysis of past due but not impaired loans
Type

Less than 30 days

31 to 60 days

61 to 90 days

More than 90 days

Total

2008

2007

2008

2007

2008

2007

2008

2007

2008

2007

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

73

6

-

-

-

-

-

-

73

6

Mortgage

1,298

2,979

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,298

2,979

Overdraft

1,146

1,483

-

11

-

-

-

-

1,146

1,494

2,517

4,468

-

11

-

-

-

-

2,517

4,479

Personal

Impairment Assessment
The Credit Union assesses loan impairment on both an individual and a collective basis. On an individual basis, a loan is classified as impaired where a
payment is overdue more than 90 days or there is doubt over the collectability of future cash flows because of known difficulties or non-compliance
with the terms and conditions of the contract.
On a collective basis, an assessment is made of the latent risks inherent in the portfolio. This assessment takes into account historic losses, economic
and market conditions. The general reserve for credit losses is then kept at the higher of this assessment and 0.5% of risk weighted credit risk assets.

(d) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rate will affect future cash flows or the fair value of financial assets and liabilities.
The Board of the Credit Union has in place a market risk management policy which sets limits on the exposure to interest rate risk. The Credit Union
actively manages the exposure through balance sheet techniques and may use derivative instruments such as interest rate swaps if it were likely that
policy limits would be exceeded.
The Credit Union enters into interest rate swap agreements for the sole purpose of managing interest rate exposures on the balance sheet and not
for trading purposes.
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30. financial instruments (CONT)
(d) Interest rate risk (cont)
At balance date the following interest rate swap agreements existed:

Fixed for floating interest rate swap contracts.
Average interest rate

Fair Value

Notional principal amount

2008

2007

2008

2007

2008

2007

%

%

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Less than 1 year

7.91

-

3

-

7,000

-

1 to 2 years

7.76

-

35

-

13,000

-

2 to 5 years

7.67

-

47

-

10,500

-

85

-

30,500

-

(e) Market risk sensitivity analysis
The Credit Union employs techniques such as gap analysis and sensitivity analysis to determine its exposure to interest rate risk. Sensitivity analysis is
conducted on a quarterly basis using a 1% shift in the yield curve to determine the potential change in the market value of equity. The Board of the
Credit Union has set limits on the exposure expressed as a percentage of capital. For market risk sensitivity analysis the Credit Union uses the APRA
prudential standards definition of capital.
When conducting the analysis it is assumed that call deposits reprice daily. A negative figure indicates a decrease in the market value of equity, a
positive value indicates an increase.
2008
Market value of equity – Sensitivity to a 1% fall in interest rates

2007

As % of capital

$’000

As % of capital

$’000

1.18

(239)

3.42

(572)

(f) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Credit Union will not be able to meet its payment obligations when they fall due.
APRA prudential standards require the Credit Union to hold a minimum of 9% of its liabilities in specified high quality liquid assets. The Credit
Union’s internal policy requires a minimum ratio well above the 9% limit specified in the prudential standards. High quality liquid assets comprise
cash, bank bills and certificates of deposit rated at investment grade and must be convertible into cash within 2 business days.
The Credit Union does not take a position on interest rate movements but places high quality liquid investments to match the maturity structure of its
liabilities.
Maturity analysis for financial liabilities based on their remaining contractual maturities is shown at Note 30 (a).

(g) Capital management
The Credit Union monitors the adequacy of its capital based on the requirement on APRA prudential standards.
APRA prudential standards require the Credit Union to maintain a minimum of 8% of capital to risk weighted assets at all time. The Credit Union’s
internal policy target ratio is well above the prudential standard limit of 8% and includes elements for risk exposures such as market, operations, and
credit risk.
The Credit Union conducts an annual risk assessment and based on the outcome of this assessment, capital levels are adjusted accordingly.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

Service One Credit Union Limited
ABN 42 095 848 598
The Directors of Service One Credit Union Limited (the Credit Union) and of the consolidated entity
declare that:
1. The financial statements and notes related thereto:
a.

Comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001, and

b.	Give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2008 and performance
for the period ended on that date of the Credit Union and of the consolidated entity.
2. In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Credit Union will be
able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

		

JC Clarke				EM Adriaanse
Chair					

Chair – Audit and Compliance Committee

Dated this 15th day of August 2008.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITor’s REPORT TO the
MEMBERS OF SERVICE ONE CREDIT UNION ltd

Report on the Financial Report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Service One Credit Union Ltd, which
comprises the balance sheet as at 30 June 2008, the income statement, statement of changes
in equity and cash flow statement for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant
accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the Directors’ declaration.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The Directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial report in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards (including the
Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes
establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards
require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal controls relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.
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Independence
In conducting our audit we have met the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001. We have given to the Directors of the company a written Auditor’s Independence
Declaration, a copy of which is included in the Directors’ report. In addition to our audit of the
financial report, we were engaged to undertake the services disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements. The provision of these services has not impaired our independence.

Auditor’s Opinion
In our opinion the financial report of Service One Credit Union Ltd is in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, including:
		

(i)	giving a true and fair view of the financial position of Service One Credit Union
Ltd at 30 June 2008 and of its performance for the year ended on that date,
and

		

(ii)	complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian
Accounting Interpretations), and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Ernst & Young

G. J. Knuckey
Partner
Canberra
15 August 2008
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ADMINISTRATION CENTRE
Address:	75 Denison Street
Deakin ACT 2600
Mon – Fri:

9.00am – 5.00pm

TELEPHONE RESPONSE CENTRE
Phone:

1300 361 761

Facsimile:

(02) 6215 7171

Mon – Fri:

8.00am – 5.30pm

Email:

members@somb.com.au

Sat:

9.00am – 12.00pm

Web:

www.somb.com.au

BRANCHES
Australian National University

Civic

Tuggeranong Hyperdome

Batemans Bay

Cooma

Tumut

Belconnen Mall

Deakin

University of Canberra

Bemboka

Narooma

Woden Plaza

Brindabella (opening soon)

Queanbeyan

Calvary Hospital

The Canberra Hospital

www.somb.com.au
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